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Directors’ Report 
 
The Directors present their report with the consolidated financial statements of the Group comprising iSelect Limited and 
its subsidiaries for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 and the auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Directors 
 
The names of the Directors in office during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 
Chris Knoblanche Non-Executive Chairman – appointed 1 July 2015 
Brodie Arnhold Non-Executive Director – appointed 25 September 2014  
Shaun Bonètt Non-Executive Director  
Greg Camm Non-Executive Director and Deputy Chairman – ceased effective 31 October 2014 
Bridget Fair Non-Executive Director 
Alex Stevens Managing Director – appointed to Board on 1 December 2014 
Damien Waller Executive Chairman to 30 December 2014, Non-Executive Chairman from 31 December 2014 to 30 June 

2015, Non-Executive Director from 1 July 2015  
Leslie Webb Non-Executive Director 
 
The above named Directors held office for the whole of the period unless otherwise specified. 
 
Company Secretary 
 
David Christie   
 
Principal Activities 
 
The principal activities during the financial year within the Group were health, life and car insurance policy sales, mortgage 
brokerage, energy, broadband and financial referral services. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these 
activities during the year. 
 
Operating and Financial Review1 
 
Group Financial Performance and Reported Results 

Summary Financial Reported Results - Reported  Summary Financial Reported Results - Normalised2 

   

  
FY15 
$000 

 
FY14 
$000 

 
Change 

% 

   
FY15 
$000 

 
FY14 
$000 

 
Change 

% 

Operating 
revenue 

157,214 120,366 31%  Operating 
revenue 

157,214 136,682 15% 

Gross profit 66,286 46,740 42%  Gross profit 66,286 63,056 5% 

EBITDA 18,591 12,078 54%  EBITDA 31,143 29,249 6% 

EBIT 12,576 5,610 124%  EBIT 25,128 22,781 10% 

NPAT 9,638 6,263 54%  NPAT 21,420 18,282 17% 

EPS (cents) 3.7 2.4 54%  EPS (cents) 8.2 7.0 17% 

Cash balance 70,542 75,906 -7%  Cash balance 70,542 75,906 -7% 

 

                                                           
1 Throughout this report, certain non-IFRS information, such as EBITDA, EBIT, Conversion Ratio, Leads and Revenue Per Sale (RPS) are used. Earnings (profit) 

before interest, income tax expense and loss from associates (EBIT) reflects profit for the year prior to including the effect of net finance costs, income taxes 
and loss from associates. Earnings (profit) before interest, income tax expense, depreciation and amortisation and loss on associates (EBITDA) reflects profit 
for the year prior to including the effect of net finance costs, income taxes, depreciation and amortisation and loss on associates.  The individual components 
of EBITDA and EBIT are included as line items in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. Non-IFRS information is not 
audited. 
2 Refer to the reported versus normalised results reconciliation on page 96. The reconciliation forms part of the Operating and Financial Review. 
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 

 

Group Financial Performance and Reported Results (continued) 

The Group operates in the online product comparison sector and compares private health insurance, life insurance, car 
insurance, broadband, energy, home loans and personal financial products. The Group maintains three brands, iSelect 
(www.iselect.com.au), InfoChoice (www.infochoice.com.au) and the newly acquired Energy Watch 
(www.energywatch.com.au). The Group’s business model is comprised of four key pillars that are linked: brand, lead 
generation, conversion and product providers. The Group derives the majority of its revenue from fees or commissions 
paid by product providers for successful sale of their products. 
 
Reported operating revenue in financial year 2015 was $157,214,000, up 31% on the prior year.  Reported EBITDA was 
$18,591,000, up 54%.  Reported net profit after tax (NPAT) was $9,638,000, up 54%. 
 
Reported results for the year have been normalised for the impact of the impairment of the NIA loan receivable and one-
off costs associated with the loan’s recovery (further detailed in the Financial Position section of this Operating and 
Financial Review), and also for costs incurred in relation to the integration of the Energy Watch business, as well as for 
costs incurred in relation to the resignation of the Executive Chairman, and search for a Non-executive Chairman.  For 
comparative purposes, reported earnings for financial year 2014 have been normalised for the impact of the revaluation of 
trail commission receivable as at 30 June 2014, and also for costs incurred in relation to the exit and replacement of the 
Group’s former Chief Executive Officer. A reconciliation of reported versus normalised results is on page 96. 
 
The commentary that follows considers the results for financial year 2015 compared with financial year 2014 on a 
normalised basis. 
 
Normalised operating revenue in financial year 2015 was the same as reported operating revenue at $157,214,000 and 
was up 15% on the prior year.  Normalised EBITDA was $31,143,000, up 6%. Normalised EBIT was $25,128,000, up 10%. 
Normalised NPAT was $21,420,000, up 17%.   
 
The Group recorded solid year-on-year revenue growth particularly in its newer businesses.  As noted above, revenue was 
up 15% on the prior year’s normalised operating revenue. Leads were slightly below the prior year as a result of more focus 
on web optimisation, which delivered increased continuation rates of web traffic into the business.  Conversion improved 
significantly as a result of these improved continuation rates and also due to improved operational disciplines, with overall 
sales volumes increasing 45% on the prior year. Revenue per sale at Group level declined, impacted by mix of business 
towards those with lower commissions and also as a result of consumer behaviour in the Health business, particularly in 
the last quarter of the financial year.  
 
Gross profit for the financial year 2015 was $66,286,000, up 5% on the prior year normalised gross profit of $63,056,000.  
Normalised gross profit margin decreased to 42% of operating revenue from 46% in the prior year reflecting the mix of 
business towards those with lower margins and also deliberate investment in staffing and marketing costs, particularly in 
the Health business.   
 
It is also worth noting that there was a reduction in discount unwind (a component of revenue) in financial year 2015 
($5,858,000) when compared to financial year 2014 ($8,524,000), which resulted from the revaluation of trail commission 
receivable as at 30 June 2014. These amounts have not been normalised from the revenue or profit results in either 
financial year. However, if they had been normalised and if the revenue from Energy Watch is excluded, the revenue 
growth year-on-year would have been 13%.  Similarly, gross profit growth on this basis would have been 10%. 
 
Normalised operating expenses (net of other income) totalled $35,143,000 and represented 22% of operating revenue.  
Whilst operating expenses were up from the prior year by 4% or $1,336,000, growth in operating expenses was slower 
than operating revenue growth, reflecting a focus on managing overheads. That said, deliberate investment in operational 
capability did occur over the course of the year to support the future growth of the business. 
 
Depreciation and amortisation was $6,015,000, a decrease of 7% on the prior year.   
 
Net finance income for financial year 2015 was $5,768,000, compared with $3,403,000 in financial year 2014.  This reflects 
interest being earned on cash on deposit, interest earned on the Group’s loan to NIA Health Pty Ltd and the undrawn 
status of the Group’s debt facility. 
 
A loss from associates of $313,000 was recorded in relation to the Group’s investment in iMoney, which occurred on 10 
October 2014. 
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 

Key Operating Metrics 
 
Leads 
iSelect categorise a ‘lead’ across the business (except in the Money business unit within the Household Utilities and 
Financial segment) as a second-page visit to one of its websites, or an inbound phone call from a potential customer to the 
Business Development Centre. This is considered by management to be a more conservative metric than considering all the 
unique visits to the homepage as leads. 
 
Leads for the Money business unit are sourced via the Infochoice website, which operates under a lead generation model 
providing a low cost source of leads. On this basis, a lead for the Money business unit is considered a visit to its website. 
 
Leads for the Energy Watch business are sourced via the Energy Watch website.  In the absence of reliable data on second 
page visits, the number of individuals whose personal information has been recorded has been determined to be a lead.  
This is a more conservative estimate of leads when compared to the broader iSelect business.  
 
Conversion Ratio 
Once a lead is generated, iSelect provides purchase advice and information to the consumer either via its websites or its 
Business Development Centre. If that purchase advice results in a referral to a product provider and a sale is completed, 
then the lead is considered to have been converted. The conversion ratio is used to measure the efficiency in turning leads 
into sales. An increase in the conversion ratio increases iSelect’s earnings without the need for additional marketing spend. 
During financial year 2015 iSelect has leveraged efficiencies from its existing resources to achieve a greater number of sales 
from the same lead pool.  
 
It should be noted that product sales are subject to claw back provisions and lapses (resulting from consumers deciding not 
to continue with their selected products). The conversion ratio as tabled below represents the ‘gross’ conversion of leads, 
before the impact of claw back and lapses. Under the lead generation model operated by the Money business unit, 
consumers are able to directly click through to product providers, which registers as a visit to the Infochoice website. As a 
result, the click-through is recorded without registering a corresponding lead as defined previously. As such, the conversion 
ratio metric just described is not meaningful for the Money business unit. 
 
Revenue Per Sale 
Revenue per sale (RPS) measures the average revenue generated from each lead that is converted to a sale. It should be 
noted the RPS of different products sold by iSelect varies considerably. 
 
Consolidated Key Operating Metrics 
 

  
FY11 

 
FY12 

 
FY13 

 
FY14 

 
FY15 

Gross Consolidated (excluding Money)      
Leads (000s) 1,911 2,945 3,317 3,801 3,750 
Conversion ratio (%)1 5.1% 5.9% 6.7% 6.6% 9.7% 
Average RPS ($)2 743 590 515 549 457 
      
Leads growth 26% 54% 13% 15% -1% 
Sales unit growth 76% 75% 28% 13% 45% 
      

Money      
Leads (000s) n.a. 874 1,693 1,962 2,254 
Average revenue per click-through ($)3 n.a. 3 3 6 7 
      
Leads growth n.a. n.m. 94% 16% 15% 
      

1 Conversion ratio is calculated as the number of gross sales units divided by leads (i.e. the average percentage of leads that are converted into sales). 
2 Average RPS is calculated as gross revenue divided by the number of gross sales units.  
3  Average revenue per click-through for the Money business has been re-stated historically to better reflect the key drivers of the part of the business that 
relies on leads and click throughs for the generation of revenue. 
n.m. = not meaningful 
n.a. = not applicable 
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 
 
Key Operating Metrics (continued) 
 
Discussion of Consolidated Key Operating Metrics for the 2015 Financial Year 
 
The consolidated key operating metrics for the financial year 2015 are discussed in more detail below. Key operating 
metrics by segment are also discussed in this Operating and Financial Review, in the section on Segment Performance. 
 
Leads Growth for the Financial Year 2015 
 
Leads (excluding Money) decreased by 1% to 3,750,000.  The Energy business in particular showed strong growth. All other 
businesses (again excluding Money) recorded a decline in leads which was largely a managed result, but also reflected a 
softer market in Health in the second half of the financial year. The primary focus for the period was on improving 
operational conversion of leads and aligning leads to the operational capacity to convert them. 
 
As already noted, a lead for Money is considered a visit to the InfoChoice website and is reported separately to leads for 
the other businesses where a lead is a second-page visit to the website, with consumers having entered a level of personal 
information. Money leads were up 15% on prior year.  
 
Conversion Ratio for the Financial Year 2015 
 
Conversion increased by 3.1 percentage points (pp) to 9.7% for the year, excluding Money. Improvements occurred in all 
businesses except for Life where performance was consistent with the prior year. This improvement in conversion is 
reflective of past investment and focus on people and systems, with more intelligent data capture, customer needs 
assessment, routing of customers to consultants and training of business development centre teams, coupled with 
renewed leadership. 
 
Revenue Per Sale for the Financial Year 2015 
 
RPS decreased by 17% to $457, excluding Money, driven by changing mix in contribution from each business. In particular, 
strong growth in Energy, which has a lower RPS than the Group average, contributed to this result.  The RPS in the Health 
business was softer than the prior year in the second half of financial year 2015 and particularly in the last quarter.  This is 
further discussed in the Segment Performance section below. 
  
Segment Performance 
 
The Group reports segment information on the same basis as the Group’s internal management reporting structure at 
reporting date. Segment information as presented below is on a normalised basis, as detailed on pages 3 and 4 of this 
report. Commentary on the performance of the two segments follows. 
 
Health and Car Insurance 
 
The Health and Car Insurance segment offers comparison and referral services across the private health insurance and car 
insurance categories. 
 

Financial 
Performance 

FY15 
$000 

FY14 
$000 

Change 
% 

 Key Operating  
Metrics 

 
FY15 

 
FY14 

Change 
% 

Operating revenue 101,006 104,323 -3%  Leads (000s) 2,065 2,199 -6% 

Segment EBITDA1 24,401 32,044 -24%  Conversion ratio (%) 8.0% 6.9% 1.1pp 

Margin % 24% 31% -7pp  Average RPS ($) 679 732 -7% 

1 Segment EBITDA excludes certain corporate overhead costs that are not allocated at segment level.  

 
Operating revenue decreased by 3% to $101,006,000. Despite leads being lower than the prior comparative period, 
conversion was up resulting in sales units for the segment remaining strong, being up 10% on the prior year. Within the 
Health business, operating revenue was impacted in the year by reduced discount unwind (a component of revenue), 
subsequent to the trail valuation at 30 June 2014. As noted on page 3, discount unwind in financial year 2015 was lower 
than in financial year 2014.  This reduction in discount unwind represented 2.4% of prior year segment revenue. Excluding 
the impact of discount unwind, revenue for the segment for financial year 2015 was down 1% on the prior comparative 
period, and segment EBITDA was down 21%. 
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 
 
Segment Performance (continued) 
 
Health and Car Insurance (continued) 
 
RPS for the 2015 financial year was impacted by both the Health and the Car businesses. The second half of financial year 
2015, and the last quarter in particular, saw a reduction in Health RPS on the prior period.   
 
Trading patterns during this period suggested that reduced affordability of health insurance may have caused an increased 
proportion of consumers to trade down to lower premium policies.  In particular there was a noticeable shift away from 
mid-hospital to basic hospital style policies.  There was also a significant shift away from combined cover policies to extras 
(ancillary cover) only policies. In addition, slower growth was observed in the ‘new to private health insurance’ segment of 
the market suggesting a slowing of participation rates.  These factors coupled with a corresponding change in product and 
provider mix, with providers also reducing the availability of certain policy types (e.g. mid to upper range pregnancy 
products), resulted in RPS declining, partially offsetting strong volume growth. 
 
As a further result of changing sales mix in Health there was also a significant shift towards upfront fee revenue, away from 
trail commission revenue. This mix change in Health was one of the major contributors to the corresponding change in the 
Group’s sales mix, which saw upfront revenue grow and trail commission revenue from current period trail commission 
sales decline.  This change in sales mix also contributed towards the Group’s cash conversion performance. 
 
Revenue performance in the Car business was also below last year, despite conversion and sales units being up 
significantly.  This was also due to RPS being lower than the prior year.  As foreshadowed in the Group’s announcement on 
10 February 2014, commission rates with Auto & General Services were lowered as part of a two-year distribution 
agreement under which the Group began to sell an expanded suite of Auto & General’s insurance products. Resultantly, 
the full year impact of these new commission rates were experienced in financial year 2015. 
 
The segment posted an EBITDA result of $24,401,000 compared with the prior year of $32,044,000. 
 
Household Utilities and Financial 
 
The Household Utilities and Financial segment offers comparison and lead referral services across a range of household 
utilities and personal financial products including electricity and gas products, broadband, life insurance, home loans, 
savings accounts, term deposits, credit cards and personal loans. The Energy Watch brand made no material impact to 
EBITDA in its first year and is included in the segment financial performance results for financial year 2015, but has no prior 
year comparatives.  The key operating metrics of the business are reported below exclusive of Energy Watch to allow for 
more meaningful comparison of the year-on-year underlying business performance of the segment. 
 

Financial 
Performance 

FY15 
$000 

FY14 
$000 

Change 
% 

 Key Operating  
Metrics2 

 
FY15 

 
FY14 

Change 
% 

Operating revenue 56,208 32,359 74%  Leads (000s) 1,685 1,602 5% 

Segment EBITDA1 9,549 1,317 625% 
 

 Conversion ratio (%) 11.6% 6.1% 5.5pp 

Margin % 17% 4% 13pp  Average RPS ($) 268 266 1% 

1 Segment EBITDA excludes certain corporate overhead costs that are not allocated at segment level.  
2 Key operating metrics reported here for the Household Utilities and Financial segment exclude the metrics for the Money business unit. The key operating 
metrics for the Money business unit are reported with the consolidated Group’s key operating metrics on page 4. 
 

Operating revenue grew by 74% to $56,208,000 and was driven by Energy in particular, with Home Loans, Money and 
Broadband all showing strong growth during the year. Revenue growth excluding Energy Watch was 55%. 
 
The iSelect Energy business showed substantial growth in both revenue and profitability, following considerable 
investment in people and marketing in financial year 2014, which continued into financial year 2015.  Sales units increased 
by 77% on the prior comparative period, mostly the result of improved operational conversion which was 7.4 percentage 
points better than the prior comparative period.  The Energy Watch brand contributed positive gross profit to the group, 
and has rounded out the consumer offering provided by the Group in the Energy sector. 
 
The Life business continued to provide the segment with a strong contribution to profit having undergone a change in 
leadership and a full re-tender of the provider panel. The Home Loans business, whilst still relatively small, showed strong  
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 
 
Segment Performance (continued) 
 
Household Utilities and Financial (continued) 
 
conversion and unit growth, which resulted in revenue growth and significantly improved profitability when compared to 
the prior comparative period.  
 
During financial year 2015, the Broadband business was housed in an ‘incubator’ style arrangement. With the business 
now more established, Broadband will be managed in a manner consistent with the broader business. 
 
The Money business, branded as Infochoice, again made a strong contribution to profit and was also able to grow unit 
sales and revenue per click over the year. 
 
The segment posted an EBITDA profit of $9,549,000 compared with prior year of $1,317,000.  
 
Financial Position 
 

Summary Statement 
of Cash Flows 

FY15 
$000 

FY14 
$000 

Change 
% 

 Summary Statement 
of Financial Position 

FY15 
$000 

FY14 
$000 

Change 
% 

Net cash provided 
by operating 
activities 

24,952 11,534 116%  Current assets 176,235 134,580 31% 

Net cash used in 
investing activities 

(30,923) (18,183) -70%  Non-current assets 131,012 149,912 -13% 

Net cash provided 
by financing 
activities 

615 (2,760) n.m.  Total assets 307,247 284,492 8% 

Net (decrease)/ 
increase in cash  

(5,356) (9,409) 43%  Current liabilities 33,960 24,290 40% 

     Non-current liabilities 26,365 23,906 10% 

     Total liabilities 60,325 48,196 25% 

     Net assets 246,922 236,296 4% 

     Equity 246,922 236,296 4% 

 

Capital Expenditure and Cash Flow 
 
Operating cash flow was $24,952,000 (being 116% higher than last year), which can be attributed to the improved 
profitability of the business, as well as a continued shift in revenue mix towards upfront fees and away from trail 
commission revenue when compared to prior comparative period. 
 
Investing cash outflows for the year ended 30 June 2015 totalled $30,923,000 and included $9,701,000 relating to the 
acquisition of the Energy Watch business and $4,578,000 for the investment in iMoney. In addition, under the secured 
facility agreement with NIA Health Pty Ltd, the Group advanced $17,937,000 of funds during the year ended 30 June 2015.  
As noted below, this facility was settled for an amount of $42,133,667 on 31 July 2015, being the total amount received by 
the Group in full payment of all interest owed on the facility and the outstanding loan balance. Please also refer to the 
section of this report titled Significant Events After Balance Date for further details. 
 
Net financing cash inflows for the 30 June 2015 year totalled $615,000. This included $750,000 which was received for the 
issue of shares upon exercise of options.  There are no further options on issue for the Group as at 30 June 2015. 
 
Capital expenditure for financial year 2015 was $4,355,000 compared with $4,844,000 for the financial year 2014. 
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Operating and Financial Review (continued) 
 
Financial Position (continued) 
 
Statement of Financial Position 
 
Net assets have increased to $246,922,000 at 30 June 2015 from $236,296,000 at 30 June 2014. 
 
Current assets have increased from 30 June 2014 by 31% to $176,235,000.This is mostly as a result of the reclassification of 
the NIA facility receivable from non-current to current having regard to the facility maturity date of 31 July 2015 and the 
recently negotiated settlement of this receivable. The carrying value of the NIA loan receivable as at 30 June 2015 was 
$40,716,000, which is net of an impairment charge of $9,987,000 as reported in the Group’s announcement to the ASX on 
27 July 2015. In addition to the loan balance, an amount of $1,079,000 was receivable in interest from NIA as at 30 June 
2015.  On 31 July 2015, iSelect received cash of $42,133,667 in settlement of all interest owing and the outstanding facility 
balance as per agreed terms. 
 
The current component of the trail commission receivable is $28,174,000, which is 3% higher than the balance at 30 June 
2014. 
 
Non-current assets have decreased from 30 June 2014 by 13% to $131,012,000 largely a result of the reclassification of the 
NIA facility receivable, offset in part by an increase in goodwill and brand name intangibles arising from the Energy Watch 
acquisition ($9,735,000) and the investment in iMoney ($4,265,000). Similar to the current balance of trail commission 
receivable, the non-current component of trail commission receivable was $73,451,000, an increase of 3% from 30 June 
2014.  
 
Current liabilities increased from 30 June 2014 to 30 June 2015 by $9,670,000, or 40%, to $33,960,000 due to seasonally 
high creditor balances as at 30 June 2015, and also due to income tax which has become payable for the first time now that 
carry forward losses have been utilised in full. 
 
Non-current liabilities increased to 30 June 2015 by 10% to $26,365,000. This is mostly the result of an increase in net 
deferred tax liability, which in turn is the result of the utilisation of carry forward tax losses and timing in relation to trail 
commission receivable as well as accruals and payables balances. 
 
Debt Position 
 
As at 30 June 2015 the Group has nil debt (30 June 2014: nil).  
 
Future Developments and Expected Results 
 
Current expectations for the Group for financial year 2016 are for revenue growth in excess of that experienced for 
financial year 2015.  Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT), on a normalised basis, is expected to be between $26 million 
and $28 million. Additional investments to further develop the more mature businesses and accelerate the growth of the 
developing businesses will be made particularly in marketing, direct staffing and technology. EBIT in the first half of 
financial year 2016 is expected to be significantly below the first half of financial year 2015. It should be noted however 
that, as in previous years, the Group’s first half revenue and earnings are expected to be significantly smaller than second 
half revenue and earnings due to operating seasonality, particularly in Health. 
 
Commentary on the major operational parts of each segment follows. 
 
Health and Car Insurance 

 As mentioned previously, the Group’s trading patterns in the second half of financial year 2015 suggested the Health 
insurance market is experiencing some softness with consumers trading down to lower priced policies.  

 Specifically RPS management is likely to remain a focal point. This dynamic will require careful management moving 
forward to maximise returns. 

 The Group is planning to make large additional investments in direct staffing during the first half, to build experience 
and competency across the Group’s consultants, which is expected to generate positive returns in the second half  
and beyond. 

 There has been an observed increase in Health insurance policy lapses over the last 12 months. The possibility of 
sustained increased policy attrition in excess of current assumptions may adversely impact the trail commission 
receivable, and trail related revenue. 

 The opportunities in the Car insurance business are being assessed on an ongoing basis, with focus in the near term 
on further operational optimisation  and trials to attract new partners to the car panel. 
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Future Developments and Expected Results (continued) 
 
Household Utilities and Financial 

 Following significant growth in financial year 2015 in the Energy business, there will be continued focus on both the 
iSelect and Energy Watch brands in financial year 2016.  Consequently additional investment in marketing, people and 
technology is planned, particularly in the first half, with resulting benefits expected to be derived on a lagged basis. 

 Further investments in people and processes in both the Life Insurance and Home Loans businesses are planned for 
financial year 2016.  

 It is also worth noting that both the Life and Home Loans businesses have trailing commissions as a component of 
revenue, consistent with the broader Life and Home Loans brokerage industries. In periods of strong revenue growth, 
the growth in trail revenue and trail commission receivable will tend to be greater than cash receipts in the same 
period.   

 The Group continues to monitor the potential impact of the Life Industry reforms, but notes that its recently 
negotiated commission structures are more aligned with these proposed reforms.  

 The personal finance (InfoChoice) business and Broadband are expected to contribute positively to the Group’s 
financial results, with growth in profitability year-on-year after taking into consideration targeted investments to 
improve these businesses over the longer term. 

 
Following the recent settlement of the NIA Health loan facility, the Board is considering a number of capital management 
initiatives. These may include an on-market buyback of up to 5 per cent of the company’s issued capital over a 12 month 
period, and the commencement of paying a fully franked dividend (timing to be confirmed). iSelect is currently taking 
advice from external advisers in this regard and a further announcement will be made once the structure and key terms 
are finalised. 
  

The Group does remain cognisant of potential risks to its business and will continue to closely monitor and work to 
mitigate these throughout financial year 2016. These risks include potential changes in government policy and legislation 
with regard to private health insurance, lower than expected cash receipts from future trail commissions, and any adverse 
decisions taken by product providers currently listed on the Group’s websites.  All of these risks have the potential to 
adversely impact the Group’s revenue and profitability. 
 
Changes in the State of Affairs 
 
In the Directors’ opinion there have been no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the year. A 
further review of matters affecting the Group’s state of affairs is contained in the Operating and Financial Review. 
 
Significant Events After Balance Date 
 
As noted in an announcement to the ASX on 27 July 2015, the Group received a cash settlement of $42,133,667 in 
satisfaction of the amount owing under the NIA Health loan facility, subject to the terms and certain conditions of an 
agreement entered into on July 25, 2015 under which GMHBA will acquire health.com.au Pty Ltd.   
 
The group has adjusted for an impairment charge to the NIA Health loan facility of $9,987,000 as at 30 June plus additional 
legal, advisory and other one-off costs of $837,000 (pre-tax) included in its 2015 financial year result.  
 
Other than the matters discussed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the 
date of this report, any transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the 
Group, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
Group in future financial years. 
 
Indemnification and Insurance of Officers and Auditors 
 
During the year the Group paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors and Officers of the Group against 
a liability incurred by such a Director or Officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of 
insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. The Group has not otherwise, 
during or since the end of the period, indemnified or agreed to indemnify a Director, Officer or Auditor of the Group or of 
any related body corporate against a liability incurred by such a Director, Officer or Auditor. 
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Directors’ Meetings 
 
The number of meetings of Directors, including meetings of committees of Directors, held during the year and the number 
of meetings attended by each Director is presented below.  
 

 
Directors 

 
 

Board of Directors 

Audit and Risk 
Management 

Committee 

 
Remuneration 

Committee 

 
Nomination 
Committee 

Held^ Attended Held^ Attended Held^ Attended Held^ Attended 

D. Waller 16 15 - - - - 8 8 
B. Arnold (1)  11 11 3 3 - - - - 
G. Camm (2) 7 7 1 1 - - - - 
A. Stevens (3) 7 7 - - - - - - 
L. Webb 16 14 - - 3 3 8 8 
S. Bonètt 16 14 4 4 3 3 8 8 
B. Fair 16 16 4 4 3 3 - - 

 
^  The number of meetings held indicates the total number held whilst the director was in office during the course of the year. 
(1) Appointed as Director and Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee on 25 September 2014. 
(2) Ceased as a Director on 31 October 2014. 
(3) Appointed as Director 1 December 2014. 

 
Dividends 
 
Dividends paid or declared since the start of the year are $nil (2014: $nil). 
 
Proceedings on Behalf of the Group 
 
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Group with leave of the Court under section 237 of 
the Corporations Act 2001. 
 

Environmental Regulation 
 
The Group is not subject to significant environmental regulation in respect of its operations. The Group has not incurred 
any liability (including any liability for rectification costs) under any environmental legislation. 
 
Corporate Governance 
 
In recognising the need for high standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors have followed the 
corporate governance statement found on the Group’s website at iSelect.com.au.  
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
 
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation 
to the audit for the year ended 30 June 2015 is on page of this report. 
 
Non-Audit Services 
 
The following non-audit services were provided by the Group’s auditor, Ernst & Young. The Directors are satisfied that the 
provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporations Act 2001. The nature and scope of each type of non-audit service provided means that auditor independence 
was not compromised. Ernst & Young received or are due to receive the following amounts for the provision of non-audit 
services: 
 

 30 June 2015 
 $ 

Regulatory compliance 36,000 
Tax compliance - 
Assurance related services - 
Due diligence - 

 36,000 
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Rounding  
 
The Group is of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class 
Order amounts in the Directors’ report and the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise indicated. 
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Remuneration Report (Audited) 
 
This Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2015 outlines the remuneration arrangements of the Group in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (the “Act”) and its regulations.  This information has been audited as required 
by section 308(3C) of the Act. 
 
The remuneration report is presented under the following sections: 
 
1. Introduction 
2. Remuneration Governance 
3. Executive Remuneration for the Year Ended 30 June 2015 
4. Executive Contracts 
5. Link Between Group Performance, Shareholder Wealth and Remuneration 
6. Non-Executive Director Remuneration 
7. Key Management Personnel Shareholdings 
8. Key Management Personnel Option Holdings 

1. Introduction 
 

The Remuneration Report details the remuneration arrangements for Key Management Personnel (KMP) who are defined 
as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, 
either directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Parent entity. The KMP during 
and since the year ended 30 June 2015 were as follows:  
 

Current Non-Executive Directors 

Chris Knoblanche  Independent Chairman – appointed 1 July 2015 
Brodie Arnhold Non-Executive Director – appointed 25 September 2014 
Shaun Bonètt Non-Executive Director 
Bridget Fair Non-Executive Director  
Damien Waller Non-Executive Director – appointed 1 July 2015 (operated as Non-Executive 

Chairman from 31 December 2014 until 30 June 2015) 
Leslie Webb Non-Executive Director 

Former Non-Executive Director 

Greg Camm Deputy Chair, Non-Executive Director – resigned effective 31 October 2014 

Current Executive Director 

Alex Stevens Chief Executive Officer - joined the Board as Managing Director on 1 
December 2014 

Former Executive Director 

Damien Waller Executive Chairman – resigned effective 31 December 2014 

Current Senior Executives 

Shane Abeyratne Operations Director – appointed 15 February 2015  
David Christie General Counsel & Company Secretary  
Natalie Ellisdon Interim Marketing Director – appointed 27 April 2015 
Paul McCarthy Chief Financial Officer – appointed 21 July 2014 
Elise Morris People Director 
Scott Wilson Commercial Director 

Former Senior Executives 

Geraldine Davys Marketing Director – resigned effective 10 February 2015 
Joanna Thomas Operations Director – resigned effective 15 July 2014 
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2. Remuneration Governance 
 
2.1 Remuneration Committee 
 
In accordance with the Remuneration Committee Charter (“the Charter”), the role of the Remuneration Committee is: 

- To review and make recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages and policies related to the 
Directors and Senior Executives; and 

- To ensure that the remuneration policies and practices are consistent with the Group’s strategic goals and 
human resources objectives.    

 
The Remuneration Committee membership is made up of members of the Board, none of whom are Executives, as 
determined in accordance with the iSelect Board Charter.  For the year ended 30 June 2015: 

- Leslie Webb acted as Chair of the Committee; and 
- Shaun Bonètt and Bridget Fair served as members of the Committee. 

 
Details regarding Remuneration Committee meetings are provided in the Directors’ report. 
 
The Remuneration Committee meets as often as is required by the Charter or other policies approved by the Board to 
govern the Committee’s operation.  The Remuneration Committee reports to the Board as necessary, and seeks Board 
approval as required. iSelect’s CEO attends certain Remuneration Committee meetings by invitation, where management 
input is required. The CEO is not present during any discussions related to his own remuneration arrangements.  For the 
period the role existed, the Executive Chairman did not attend Remuneration Committee meetings, unless by invitation. 
 
2.2 Information used to set Executive Remuneration 
 
To ensure the Remuneration Committee has sufficient information to make appropriate remuneration decisions and 
recommendations, it may seek and consider information from independent remuneration consultants.  Remuneration 
advice provided by such consultants is used to aid decision making, but does not replace thorough consideration of 
Executive remuneration by the Directors. 
 
During the 2015 financial year, the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee engaged KPMG to provide advice in relation 
to the appropriateness of iSelect’s general remuneration framework and structure, including benchmarking of the 
remuneration of the CEO and CFO and information regarding market practice. All advice was provided directly to the 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and KPMG provided a declaration that any advice was provided free from 
undue influence by management. iSelect does not consider that the advice provided by KPMG constitutes a ‘remuneration 
recommendation’ for the purposes of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
To ensure KPMG was free from undue influence of KMP when providing this advice, the advice was provided in writing 
directly to the Chair of the Remuneration Committee.  As a result of this approach, the Board is satisfied that the 
remuneration recommendation was made free from undue influence by the members of the KMP to whom the 
remuneration recommendation relates.  

 
3. Executive Remuneration for the Year Ended 30 June 2015  

 
3.1 Remuneration Principles and Strategy 
 
iSelect is a fast moving and growing business with a heavy reliance on people to perform, grow and innovate.   
 
The aim of the Group’s remuneration strategy is to align remuneration with iSelect’s strategic direction, align remuneration 
with the creation of shareholder value and provide a tangible link between remuneration outcomes with both Group and 
individual performance.   
 
Fixed remuneration is set at a level which is competitive with remuneration for professionals with the required skills and 
expertise to maximise the current and future value of the business.  Variable remuneration provides the opportunity for 
employees to share financially in iSelect’s overall performance and performance of the business, when targets are met and 
exceeded. 
 
The Group’s Executive remuneration strategy is designed to:  
 
- Align the interests of Executives with shareholders – the remuneration framework incorporates “at-risk” 

components, including short term incentives and long term incentives.  Performance is assessed against both financial 



iSelect Limited 
Directors’ Report – Remuneration Report (Audited) 

Page 14 
 

and non-financial targets, with key performance indicators that are relevant to the success of the Group and provide 
acceptable returns for shareholders; and 

 
- Attract, motivate and retain high performing individuals – the remuneration framework helps ensure that the 

remuneration paid by the Group is competitive with that offered by companies to professionals with the required 
skills and expertise to maximise the current and future value of the business, and longer-term remuneration 
encourages retention. 
 

3.2 Remuneration Framework 
 
Executive remuneration is provided in a mix appropriate to the position, responsibilities and performance of each 
Executive within the Group, and considerations of relevant market practices.   
 
For the financial year ended 30 June 2015, Executive remuneration was structured as a mix of fixed and variable (‘at risk’) 
remuneration utilising short and long term incentive elements. As a result, the relative weightings of the three components 
are as follows: 
 

 Total Remuneration % (annualised at target)3 for FY2015 

Fixed Variable 

Fixed Annual Remuneration 
(FAR) 

Short Term Incentive  
(STI) 

Long Term Incentive 
(LTI) 

CEO & Executive 
Chairman4 

56% 22% (40% of FAR) 22% (40% of FAR) 

Other Executives 58% 21% (35% of FAR) 21% (35% of FAR) 

 
Further details regarding each element of the remuneration mix is provided in section 3.3. 
 

3.3 Details of Executive Remuneration Components 
 
A. Fixed Annual Remuneration (FAR) 
 
What is FAR? 
FAR consists of base salary and statutory superannuation contributions.  Executives may also elect to have a combination 
of benefits provided out of their FAR, including additional superannuation and the provision of a motor vehicle.  The value 
of any non-cash benefits provided to them includes the cost of any fringe benefits tax payable by iSelect as a result of 
providing the benefit.   
 
FAR is not “at risk” and is set using appropriate market benchmark data, considering the individual’s role, responsibility, 
skills, experience and performance.   
 
Given the rapidly changing nature of iSelect’s business and market sector, benchmark data considers professionals with the 
required skills and expertise to maximise the current and future value of the business.  Fixed remuneration is set with 
reference to this group. 
 
How is FAR determined? 
Remuneration levels are considered annually through a remuneration review that considers market data, insights into 
remuneration trends, the performance of the Group and individual, and the broader economic environment. 
 
A review of FAR was undertaken during the 2015 financial year.  FAR levels for a number of Executives were increased 
based on individual performance and to align to targeted remuneration levels. 
 
B. Short Term Incentive Plan (STI Plan) 
 
How does the STI Plan operate? 
All Executives are eligible to participate in the STI Plan.  The STI Plan puts a significant proportion of remuneration “at risk” 
subject to the achievement of Group financial outcomes and individual performance measures.  This provides a tangible 
link between the interests of employees and the financial performance of the Group.   

                                                           
3 These figures assume on target performance on an annualised basis.  The actual performance against targets for the variable 
components will determine the amount received by each Executive. 
4 All references in section 3 to Executive Chairman relate only to the period of the year ended 30 June 2015 that this role existed (1 July to 
30 December 2014). 
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For the year ended 30 June 2015, the target STI opportunity was between 21% and 22% of the total remuneration package 
for Executives (as detailed in section 3.2).  This represents 40% of FAR for the CEO and the Executive Chairman, and 35% of 
FAR for all other Executives.  The STI Plan is cash-based, with payments made once per year from financial year 2015, 
following the announcement of the audited financial results at financial year end. 
 
The minimum payout for Group performance and individual performance is 0% of FAR.  The maximum payout for Group 
performance in the EBITDA measure is 200% for outstanding performance, and in the Operating Revenue (as that term is 
defined in the audited accounts) and individual key performance indicators (KPIs) is 100% for achievement of targets. 
 
What changes were made to the STI Plan during the year? 
No changes were made to the STI Plan during financial year 2015.   
 
Changes are being considered for financial year 2016, which will be disclosed in the report for financial year 2016, if the 
changes are adopted.  
 
What were the STI performance measures for the financial year ended 30 June 2015? 
The performance measures for the Executives have been adopted to provide a balance between financial and non-
financial, Group and individual, operational and strategic aspects of performance.  The performance measures are 
described in detail below:   
 

Measure FY2015 Target Details 

Group performance  1. Growth in EBITDA  
 The EBITDA target was set against the Group’s financial year 2015 Annual Operating Plan. 

 EBITDA result Percentage of STI that 
vests5 

 Less than or equal to 95% of target  0% 

 At target 100% 

 Above target (measured between 100% and 125% of target) 200% 

 2. Growth in Operating Revenue 
The Operating Revenue target was set against the Group’s financial year 2015 Annual 
Operating Plan. 

 Revenue result Percentage of STI that  
vests 

 Less than or equal to 95% of target  0% 

 At target 100% 

Individual Key 
Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) 

Individual KPIs are set for Senior Executives which take into account their area of 
accountability, and for the financial year ended 30 June 2015, related to key business 
objectives in the areas of stakeholder relationships, sales conversion, brand growth, 
development of the organisational model, delivering high performance ways of working, 
technology solutions and resources, operational performance in the Business Development 
Centre and developing commercialisation opportunities. 
 
Individual KPIs are set with clearly measureable outcomes that the individual is directly able 
to control. 
 
Payout levels vary between 0 and 100% for individual KPIs.     

 
How are the various measures weighted to determine the STI Plan payment for Executives? 
There are three performance measures considered under the STI Plan - EBITDA, Operating Revenue, and individual KPIs.  
The weighting between the three measures varies for participants, dependent upon their individual functional 
responsibilities and their ability to influence measurement outcomes.  For the financial year ended 30 June 2015, the 
relative weightings were unchanged from financial year 2014, and are as follows: 
 

Performance measure EBITDA Revenue Individual KPIs 

CEO and Executive Chairman 50% 50% - 

Other Senior Executives 40% 30% 30% 

 

                                                           
5 Straight line vesting occurs between 0% and 100%, and 100% and 200% for EBITDA only. 
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Who sets the STI Plan performance measures? 
The Group’s financial performance targets are set by the Board, based on the recommendation of the Remuneration 
Committee.  Individual KPIs are set and measured for each Senior Executive by the CEO, and recommendations in relation 
to payment on the basis of achievement of performance targets set under the STI Plan are made to the Remuneration 
Committee for their consideration by the CEO. 
 
What is EBITDA and why is it used as an STI performance measure?  

EBITDA is an operational measure that is widely used by listed companies to measure financial performance.  EBITDA has 
continued to be used as a performance measure in the financial year ended 30 June 2015.  The Board uses EBITDA as a 
primary measure to assess the Group’s operating performance, maintaining focus on the Group’s operating results and 
associated cash generation.  
 
This aligns with the Group’s objective of delivering growth and shareholder returns.   
 
Why is Operating Revenue used as an STI performance measure and how is it defined? 
The use of Operating Revenue as an STI performance measure has been adopted to align performance with market top line 
growth expectations of the Group. 
 
What are the individual KPIs and why are they used as an STI performance measure? 
The use of individual KPIs for each Executive (excluding the CEO and Executive Chairman) creates a personal, non-financial 
group of measures specific to each individual.  These measures also consider the behaviours that executives are expected 
to display in the running of their operations.  For the financial year ended 30 June 2015, KPIs related to key business 
objectives in the areas of:  

 Key stakeholder relationships; 

 Brand and consumers/customers relationships;  

 Sales conversion through the provision of amazing customer experiences; 

 New brand growth; 

 Future growth through the establishment of organisational model enhancement; 

 High performance through happy and contributing employees; 

 Simplified and strengthened ways of working; 

 Optimised technology solutions and resources; 

 Operational performance in the Business Development; and 

 Commercialisation opportunities. 
 
The use of individual KPIs helps ensure leadership behaviours are aligned with the Group’s corporate philosophy and 
objectives, and establishes a business platform for sustainable future growth. 
 
How is performance assessed? 
Performance against the EBITDA and Operating Revenue targets is assessed by the Board, and independently verified 
following the preparation of the financial statements each financial year.  Performance against individual KPIs for senior 
executives is assessed by the CEO, and approved by the Remuneration Committee based upon the CEO’s assessment.   
 
How are the varying levels of performance achievement rewarded? 
STI Plan targets are designed to encourage and reward high performance, as well as differentiating between individual 
performance.  Performance against the financial targets must be greater than 95% in order for any STI to be paid, and at 
target for 100% of STI to be paid.  Performance is rewarded pro-rata from 0% to 100% for achievement of over 95% and 
less than 100%. 
 
Greater rewards are available to recognise and encourage significant over-performance, ranging from greater than 100% to 
a maximum of 200% of the STI payment related to EBITDA available when financial performance exceeds target.  The 
maximum EBITDA and Operating Revenue performance at which bonus payments are capped is determined by the 
Remuneration Committee each year.   
 
The proportion of STI subject to individual KPIs is rewarded between 0 and 100%, with 100% being the maximum payout.  
The individual element provides a measure of differentiation between individual levels of performance. 
 
What if an Executive ceases employment? 
Executives do not receive payment for partial financial year completion against financial targets, unless they have a 
contractual arrangement to do so.  This term has been incorporated into contracts for all current Executives (excluding the 
CEO).   
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During the financial year ended 30 June 2015, no Board discretion was used to pay pro-rata bonuses to departing 
Executives, after their termination date, outside contractual arrangements. 
 
When are the performance conditions tested and payments made? 
All elements of the STI Plan are measured and paid annually, following the preparation of the financial statements, with 
payments generally made in the September following financial year end. 
 
What were the STI performance outcomes for the year ended 30 June 2015?  
 

 STI Outcome (%) 

Actual STI 
Awarded 

% STI 
Forfeited 

 
EBITDA 

 
Revenue 

Individual 
KPIs6 

 
Total 

Current Senior Executives 

Shane Abeyratne 90% 90% 90% 90% $38,732 0% 

David Christie 90% 90% 90% 90% $124,346 0% 

Natalie Ellisdon 90% 90% n.a. 63% $9,817 0% 

Paul McCarthy 90% 90% 90% 90% $116,550 0% 

Elise Morris 90% 90% 90% 90% $110,282 0% 

Scott Wilson 90% 90% 90% 90% $116,550 0% 

Current Executive Directors 

Alex Stevens 90% 90% n.a. 90% $270,000 0% 

Former Executive Directors 

Damien Waller7 200% 100% n.a. 150% $185,597 0% 

Former Executives 

Geraldine Davys - - - - - 100% 

Joanna Thomas - - - - - 100% 

 
 
  

                                                           
6 Individual KPIs result is for the full FY15 year, and represents a straight average between the results of each half. 
7 As detailed in Section 3.4, Mr Waller’s STI outcome against EBITDA and Operating Revenue targets considered company performance 
during his tenure as Executive Chairman only (1 July to 30 December 2014). 
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C. Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTI Plan”) 
 
Grants were made under the FY2015 LTI Plan in August and November 2014, and the details provided in this section relate 
to these grants during the financial year ended 30 June 2015.   
 
Further grants made in July 2015 relating to the financial year 2016, incorporate additional enhancements to the LTI Plan, 
disclosed at the end of this section, consistent with the proposed CEO grant incorporated in the Notice of Meeting for the 
2015 Annual General Meeting.   
 
What is the purpose of the FY2015 LTI Plan? 
The LTI Plan has been established to provide a long-term incentive component of remuneration to assist with the 
attraction, reward and retention of key employees, including Executives.  The LTI Plan links long-term reward with the 
ongoing creation of shareholder value, using LTI Plan shares which are subject to satisfaction of long-term performance 
conditions, including share price growth.  The combination of these factors will help to ensure that Executives are focussed 
on long term value creation, linking their interests with those of shareholders.  LTI Plan shares are not transferable and do 
not carry voting rights. 
 
The Remuneration Committee determines the size and allocation of the LTI Plan grant in accordance with the LTI Plan 
rules, for recommendation to the Board, who is responsible for final approval.  
 
What changes were made to the LTI Plan as part of the remuneration review following the 2013 AGM?  
A comprehensive review of the LTI Plan was undertaken during financial year 2014, as part of the remuneration review 
that followed the 2013 AGM.  The LTI Plan in particular was thoroughly reviewed, with numerous changes adopted to take 
into account feedback provided by shareholders, proxy advisors and other stakeholders. 
 
As a result, the FY2015 LTI Plan grant incorporated the following changes and enhancements: 
 Introduction of Earnings Per Share (EPS) as a second performance measure; 
 A lengthened performance period of 3 years (1 July 2014 to 30 June 2017, for the FY2015 grant) compared to 27 

months under the FY2013 LTI Plan; 
 Single performance testing point at the end of the third year, with no further retesting.  Any shares that don’t pass the 

test will be forfeited in full satisfaction of the associated share loan; and 
 The Remuneration Committee tightened their approach with regard to the treatment on departure for Executives 

participating in the LTI Plan.   
 
How does the LTI Plan operate for grants made in FY2015? 
Executives were invited to participate in the LTI Plan, via a loan based share plan.  There was no initial cost to the recipient 
to participate in the LTI Plan, but the loan must be repaid before or at the time of sale of the shares.  The value of the loan 
is set by applying the market value at grant date to the number of units granted.  This means the share price must increase 
over the life of the Plan, and pass the performance tests (below) for there to be any value to the participant between 
vesting and expiry.   
 
Each LTI Plan share is offered subject to the achievement of the performance measures, which is tested once at the end of 
the 3 year performance period.  The LTI Plan value is split between two performance measures – Total Shareholder Return 
(TSR) and EPS.  LTI Plan shares that do not vest after testing of the relevant performance measure lapse, without retesting.  
There is no financial risk to the Group as lapsed shares are cancelled in full repayment of the portion of the loan to which 
they relate. Shares that pass the performance tests are able to be traded during the period between vesting and expiry, 
upon repayment of the loan value.  This means there is only value to the participant where both the performance 
condition is met, and the share price exceeds the market value of the share, as determined at the grant date.   
 
The number of LTI Plan Shares granted to each participant is calculated using the fair value of awards at the allocation 
date, being 1 July 2014.   
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What are the LTI performance measures for grants made under the LTI plan in the financial year ended 30 June 2015? 
Awards granted under the FY2015 LTI plan are subject to a 3 year performance period and the following dual performance 
measures over that period: 

 
Measure Weighting Description of Measure 

Total Shareholder 
Return (TSR) 

50% TSR measures the total change in the value of the iSelect shares over the 
performance period, plus the value of any dividends and other distributions 
being treated as if they were reinvested in shares.   
 
The compound annual growth rate (CAGR) will be calculated using the 
market price of a Share at the end of the performance period (using the 
volume weighted average price (VWAP) for trades on the Australian 
Securities Exchange over the one week period up to and including the final 
day of the performance period), compared against the market price at the 
start of the period.   

  % CAGR in TSR % of LTI Plan shares that vest 

  Less than 12% 0% 

  12% 50% 

  Between 12% and 15% Straight line vesting between 50% 
and 100% 

  15% or more 100% 

Growth in Earnings 
Per Share (EPS) 

50% EPS measures the Net Profit after Tax, divided by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.  
 
The CAGR will be calculated by comparing the EPS in the final year of the 
performance period (i.e. year ended 30 June 2017) compared with the base 
year being the last year ended before the start of the performance period 
(i.e. the year ended 30 June 2014). 
 

  % CAGR in EPS % of LTI Plan shares that vest 

  Less than 12% 0% 

  12% 50% 

  Between 12% and 15% Straight line vesting between 50% 
and 100% 

  15% or more 100% 

 
Why were these Long Term Incentive (LTI) performance measures selected? 
The TSR target is a market based performance measure that provides a direct link between Executive reward and security 
holder value.  It provides an external market measure to encourage and motivate Executive performance.  TSR growth has 
been used since the year ended 30 June 2013. The EPS performance measure was introduced to provide a non-market 
performance measure.  It links Executive performance to the Group’s earnings. 
 
How will the LTI performance targets be measured? 
TSR – Market data will be used to prepare an internal calculation of the TSR for the Group.  This will be disclosed in the 
Annual Report for the year the testing occurs.   
 
EPS – The calculation will be based on the audited accounts and will also be disclosed in the Annual Report for the year the 
testing occurs.   
 
Why has a loan based share plan model been adopted? 
In considering the best LTI Plan to adopt, a number of different types of employee equity alternatives were considered.  
The loan based share plan was adopted as it allows the benefits of employee share options, but without adverse tax 
implications.  Participants pay tax once they sell the shares, and they are only able to sell the shares once both the 
performance hurdle has been met and the share price has increased above the loan value.  This provides a tangible future 
benefit to Executives that is strongly linked to shareholder value.  This approach allows Executives to be rewarded for 
capital growth in the shares, while also placing the Group in a superior position as a result of reduced taxation and 
transaction costs compared with other schemes. 
 
Importantly, as a loan based share plan is not an employee share plan within the terms of the tax legislation, the 75% rule 
does not apply.  This rule would require 75% of permanent employees to be offered participation in an employee share 
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plan, to permit other types of equity to be used – such as a performance share plan.  Due to iSelect’s size, and the 
establishment costs and complexity of such a scheme, a loan based share plan is currently the preferred choice.   
 
What will happen if the Executive ceases employment? 
Where an Executive ceases employment, any unvested LTI Plan shares will be forfeited in full satisfaction of the 
corresponding loan, unless determined and approved otherwise by the Board. 
 
What will happen in the event of a change in control? 
Unless the Board determines otherwise, all LTI Plan shares vest upon a change in control. 
 
What was the grant and movement in the number and value of performance awards during the financial year ended 30 
June 2015? 
Eligible Senior Executives (excluding the CEO) received LTI plan shares with a grant date of 29 August 2014.  Following the 
receipt of shareholder approval at the 2014 AGM, the CEO received LTI plan shares with a grant date of 18 November 
2014.  All LTI Plan shares granted in FY2015 vest subject to a performance period from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2017. 
 
The relevant values of the grants are as follows: 
 

 
 
Recipient 

 
 
Grant date 

Fair value of awards at grant date One week VWAP up 
to and including 

grant date TSR EPS 

Eligible Senior Executives 29 August 2014 $0.26 $0.37 $1.20 

CEO 18 November 2014 $0.33 $0.41 $1.38 

 

 
Name 

Number of performance 
awards granted 

 
Value at grant date($)8 

Maximum total value of 
grant yet to vest ($) 

Alex Stevens 1,630,434 603,621 603,621 

David Christie9 1,020,612 321,493 321,493 

Geraldine Davys9 10 675,904 212,910 n.a.10 

Paul McCarthy 532,190 167,640 167,640 

Elise Morris 502,172 158,184 158,184 

Scott Wilson 532,608 167,722 167,722 

 
What clawback arrangements are in place for grants made under the FY2015 LTI Plan? 
Under the rules of the FY2015 LTI Plan, the Board has the power (in certain circumstances) to determine that a 
participant’s interest in any or all of the LTI Plan shares is forfeited and surrendered, and/or that the value that the 
participant has derived from any vested shares is set off against any current or future fixed remuneration or annual 
bonuses owed to the participant.  This applies in cases of fraud, dishonesty and breach of obligations, including, without 
limitation, a material misstatement of financial information, whether the action or omission is intentional or inadvertent. 
 
D. Legacy Incentive Plans  

 
The Group has a number of LTI Plans that were offered in previous financial years, as detailed below. 
 
Employee Share Option Plans – 2010 and 2011 Plans 
These are legacy plans under which options were offered prior to the adoption of the current LTI Plan.  No additional offers 
will be made under these plans, however awards previously granted under these plans will continue to be governed by 
their respective terms. All options granted under these plans either lapsed or were exercised during financial year 2015.  
Further details in relation to performance awards that vested or lapsed in the financial year ending 30 June 2015 are 
provided in the section below.  Refer to note 31 of the Financial Report for further detail on the 2010 and 2011 Employee 
Share Option Plans. 
 
 
 
  

                                                           
8 Determined at the time of grant per AASB2. For details on the valuation of the LTIP shares please refer to note 31 of the financial 
statements. 
9 Grants made to Mr Christie and Ms Davys included a pro-rata award based on time served during financial year 2014. 
10 Ms Davys’ grant under the 2015 LTI Plan was forfeited upon departure in February 2015. 
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FY2013 Long Term Incentive Plan 
All LTI Plan shares in the 2013 LTI Plan as detailed below lapsed during the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 

Detail 2013 LTI Plan 

Grant date 1 April 2013 

Performance period (testing date is 
the last day of each period) 

Tranche 1 (20%) – 1 April 2013 to 30 June 2013 
Tranche 2 (40%) – 1 April 2013 to 30 June 2014 
Tranche 3 (40%) – 1 April 2013 to 30 June 2015 

Performance condition Compound annual growth rate (CAGR) in Total Shareholder Return (TSR).  TSR 
measures the total change in the value of the shares over a period, plus the 
value of any dividends and other distributions being treated as if they were 
reinvested in shares. 

Vesting schedule CAGR in TSR Performance level                  Percentage of awards that vest 

Less than 12% 0% 

12% 50% 

Between 12% & 15% Straight line between 50% & 100% 

15% or more 100% 

Expiry date 24 May 2018  

Fair value of instrument at grant Tranche 1:  28.8c 
Tranche 2:  36.7c 
Tranche 3:  42.0c 

Testing outcomes The performance condition was not passed for the first tranche, so the shares 
rolled over to the second tranche for cumulative target testing. 
The performance condition was not passed for the second tranche, so all shares 
have rolled over to be retested as at 30 June 2015. 

Current status Final test was not passed and all LTI Plan shares were forfeited as at 30 June 
2015 

Shares on issue Nil 

Minimum share price to pass test $2.39 (for 50% vesting) and $2.53 (for 100% vesting) 

 
Value of performance awards vested and lapsed in the year ended 30 June 2015 
 
All following options under the 2010 and 2011 Plans as detailed below lapsed in the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 

Name Option Plan 
name 

Date lapsed Number  
lapsed/ forfeited 

Current Non-Executive Directors    

Les Webb 2011 Option Plan 30 June 2015 450,00011 

 
All LTI Plan shares under the FY2013 LTI Plan were tested for Tranches 1, 2 and 3 as at 30 June 2015, against the cumulative 
TSR CAGR requirements.  In order for the shares to have vested at the 30 June 2015 test date, the share price was required 
to reach $2.39 for 50% vesting, and $2.53 for 100% vesting.  The share price as at 30 June 2015 was $1.44, and accordingly 
no shares passed the performance test, and all shares have been forfeited.   
 

Name Number 
lapsed/forfeited 

Current Senior Executives  

Elise Morris 540,540 

Scott Wilson 540,540 

Former Senior Executives  

Geraldine Davys12 675,904 

Jo Thomas13 621,620 

Former Executive Director  

Damien Waller 1,351,350 

 
For further details regarding the number of LTI Plan shares on issue during the year, and the rules applicable on cessation 
of employment (including the forfeiture of shares) please see note 28 of the financial report. 

                                                           
11 These options remain subject to clawback in line with the 2011 Employee Share Option Plan Rules. 
12 Ms Davys forfeited her 2013 LTI Plan shares upon her departure in February 2015. 
13 Ms Thomas forfeited her 2013 LTI Plan shares upon her departure in July 2014. 
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Number of performance awards on issue as at 30 June 2015  
 

 
Balance at 

start of year 
Granted 

during year 
Vested during 

year 
Forfeited 

during year 
Balance at end 

of year 

Current Senior Executives 

Shane Abeyratne - - - - - 

David Christie - 1,020,612 - - 1,020,612 

Natalie Ellisdon - - - - - 

Paul McCarthy - 532,190 - - 532,190 

Elise Morris 540,540 502,172 - 540,540 502,172 

Scott Wilson 540,540 532,608 - 540,540 532,608 

Former Executives 

Geraldine Davys - 675,904 - 675,904 - 

Jo Thomas 621,620 - - 621,620 - 

Current Executive Directors 

Alex Stevens - 1,630,434 - - 1,630,434 

Former Executive Directors 

Damien Waller 1,351,350 - - 1,351,350 - 

 
3.4 Key Events Impacting Remuneration during the Year Ended 30 June 2015  
 
Executive Chairman Departure 
In October 2014, Mr Waller advised the Board of his desire to become a non-Executive Director of iSelect.  As part of this 
transition, Mr Waller departed the role of Executive Chairman, effective 30 December 2014.  Mr Waller was the co-founder 
of iSelect in February 2000, and has played a key role in the Group’s business and development. 
 
Mr Waller received the following during the financial year ended 30 June 2015 in satisfaction of his contractual 
entitlements: 
 A pro-rata amount of his usual FAR for the period worked up to 31 December 2014 ($294,326 plus superannuation of 

$15,000); 
 A termination payment of $709,996 comprising pay in lieu of notice (including superannuation) for 12 months from 

his date of resignation in line with his contractual entitlements and capped at his three year average base pay, in line 
with Corporations Act requirements ($548,586 plus superannuation of $15,000) and payout of his annual leave 
entitlement ($nil) and long service leave entitlement ($146,410); 

 A pro-rata STI Plan payment of $185,597 based on company performance during the time served as Executive 
Chairman (from 1 July to 31 December 2014), in line with his contractual entitlements, and subject to the usual 
performance hurdles. To ensure appropriate governance, pro-rata STI was linked to first half results to align with Mr 
Waller’s actual service as opposed to linking STI to a period (H2) where he served as Non-Executive Director.  Mr 
Waller elected that no STI payment for the period of payment in lieu of notice (1 January to 31 December 2015) was 
payable, despite a contractual entitlement to receive the same, and   

 He forfeited 1,351,350 shares under the 2013 LTI Plan in full satisfaction of the associated share loan, despite having 
a contractual entitlement to receive accelerated vesting of shares and share options that would have vested during 
the notice period and/or 12 months following the date of termination, within the usual exercise period. 

 
For details regarding Mr Waller’s remuneration while Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Director, please see 
section 6.3.  
  
Chief Financial Officer 
As disclosed in the financial year 2014 Remuneration Report, Mr McCarthy commenced as CFO on 21 July 2014, and his 
remuneration is disclosed in this report. 
 
Operations Director Transition 
Ms Thomas resigned as Operations Director, effective 15 July 2014.  As a result of her departure, Ms Thomas received:  
 A pro-rata amount of her usual FAR for the period worked up to 18 July 2014 ($12,738 plus superannuation of $1,196) 
 Six months FAR as gardening leave ($160,584 plus superannuation of $15,074) for her contractual 6 month notice 

period to 15 January 2015; 
 A termination payment comprising payout of her annual leave entitlement ($56,300); 
 She forfeited 621,620 shares under the 2013 LTI Plan, as determined by the Board, in full satisfaction of the associated 

share loan; and 
 She did not receive any STI payments for financial year 2015 as she was ineligible by reason of resignation. 
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New Operations Director 
Mr Abeyratne joined iSelect as Operations Director on 15 February 2015. 
 
Marketing Director  
Ms Davys resigned as Marketing Director, effective 10 February 2015.  As a result of her departure, Ms Davys received: 
 A pro-rata amount of her usual FAR for the period worked up to 9 February 2015 ($166,667 plus superannuation of 

$15,833); 
 Payment of FAR for the two months and one week gardening leave period ($52,511 plus superannuation of $4,988) 

for her notice period to 17 April 2015; 
 Payout of her annual leave entitlement ($8,863); 
 She forfeited 675,904 shares under the 2015 LTI Plan, as determined by the Board, in full satisfaction of the associated 

share loan; and 
 She did not receive any STI payments for financial year 2015 as she was ineligible by reason of resignation. 
 
Interim Marketing Director 
Natalie Ellisdon was appointed to the role of Interim Marketing Director on 27 April 2015, for an initial six month period 
while the company continued to search for a Marketing Director.  Ms Ellisdon joined iSelect in January 2015 as Head of 
Brand and Campaign Management.  Her remuneration is disclosed in this report for the period she operated in the Interim 
Marketing Director role only. 
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3.5 Remuneration Paid to Executives 
 
The table below has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act and relevant Accounting Standards.  The figures provided under the equity settled share 
based payments columns are based on accounting values and do not reflect actual payments received by Executives. 
 

 
 

  
 

Short Term Benefits 

Post  
Employment 

Benefits 

 
Long Term 

Benefits 

 
Equity settled share based 

payments expense 

 
 
Termination 

  
 
Performance 

Name and title Year Salary 
$ 

STI 
$ 

Other 
$ 

Super 
$ 

Long Service 

Leave  $ 
Options 

$ 
Shares14 

$ 
Payments 

$ 
Total 

$ 
Related 

$ 

Current Executive Director  

Alex Stevens 

Chief Executive Officer 2015 715,000 270,000 - 35,000 - - 173,234 - 1,193,234 443,234 
 2014 184,038 - - 6,250 - - - - 190,288 - 

Current Senior Executives  

Shane Abeyratne (from 15 February 2015) 

Operations Director 2015 112,048 38,732 - 10,645 - - - - 161,425 38,732 
 2014 - - - - - - - - - - 

David Christie 
General Counsel 2015 364,750 124,346 - 30,000 - - 91,430 - 610,526 215,776 
 2014 261,828 30,181 - 18,750 - - - - 310,759 30,181 

Natalie Ellisdon (from 27 April 2015) 

Marketing Director 2015 41,426 9,817 - 3,935 - - - - 55,178 9,817 
 2014 - - - - - - - - - - 

Paul McCarthy (from 21 July 2014) 

Chief Financial Officer 2015 323,436 116,550 - 28,538 - - 47,675 - 516,199 164,225 
 2014 - - - - - - - - - - 

Elise Morris 

People Director 2015 320,100 110,282 - 30,000 - - 114,351 - 574,733 224,633 
 2014 305,606 33,971 - 22,681 - - 83,382 - 445,640 117,353 

Scott Wilson 

Commercial Director 2015 355,070 116,550 - 29,581 - - 117,077 - 618,278 233,627 
 2014 290,000 34,944 - 28,458 - - 83,382 - 436,784 118,326 

 
  

                                                           
14 The figures provided under the equity settled share based payments columns are based on accounting values and do not reflect actual payments received by Executives. 
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3.5 Remuneration Paid to Executives (continued) 
 

 
 

  
 

Short Term Benefits 

Post  
Employment 

Benefits 

 
Long Term 

Benefits 

 
Equity settled share based 

payments expense 

 
 
Termination 

  
 
Performance 

Name and title Year Salary 
$ 

STI 
$ 

Other 
$ 

Super 
$ 

Long Service 

Leave  $ 
Options 

$ 
Shares15 

$ 
Payments 

$ 
Total 

$ 
Related 

$ 

Former Executive Director  

Damien Waller (until 30 December 2014) 

Executive Chairman 2015 294,326 185,597 - 15,000 146,410 - (264,588)16 563,586 940,331 (78,991) 
 2014 545,686 - - 25,000 16,290 - 208,456 - 795,432 208,456 

Former Executives  

Geraldine Davys (until 10 February 2015) 

Former Marketing Director 2015 166,667 - - 15,833 - - -17 66,362 248,862 - 
 2014 171,472 17,285 - 16,284 - - - - 205,041 17,285 

Joanna Thomas (until 15 July 2014) 

Former Operations Director 2015 12,738 - - 1,196 - - (121,710)18 231,958 124,182 (121,710) 
 2014 311,970 33,037 - 25,185 - - 95,889 - 466,081 128,926 

Total Current & Former KMP 
2015 2,705,561 971,874 - 199,728 146,410 - 157,469 861,906 5,042,948 1,129,343 
2014 2,070,600 149,418 - 142,608 16,290 - 471,109 - 2,850,025 620,527 

 
The total remuneration of KMP as per the financial year 2014 audited financial statements was $5,216,780. The financial year 2014 total displayed in the main table above ($2,850,025) does 
not include former KMP from financial year 2014 who had nil remuneration in financial year 2015. 
 

Comparison of total financial year 2015 to financial year 2014 remuneration report 

Total  
2015 2,705,561 971,874 - 199,728 146,410 - 157,469 861,906 5,042,948 1,129,343 
2014 3,018,403 217,759 - 212,377 16,290 - 518,770 1,233,181 5,216,780 736,529 

 
  
 

                                                           
15 The figures provided under the equity settled share based payments columns are based on accounting values and do not reflect actual payments received by Executives. 
16 Includes share based payment expense in financial year 2015 of $86,706, net of expense write-back of $351,294 upon forfeiture of share resulting from resignation as Executive Chairman. 
17 Includes share based payment expense in financial year 2015 of $37,159, net of expense write-back of $37,159 upon forfeiture of share resulting from resignation as Marketing Director. 
18 Includes share based payment expense in financial year 2015 of $3,324, net of expense write-back of $125,034 upon forfeiture of share resulting from resignation as Operations Director. 
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4. Executive Contracts 
 
Remuneration arrangements for Executives with service during the year ended 30 June 2015 are formalised in employment 
contracts.  All contracts are for an unlimited duration. 
 

Name Notice Period19 & Termination Payment20 

Alex Stevens - 6 months’ notice by either party (or payment in lieu) 
- Entitled to pro-rata bonus, subject to achievement of KPIs, for time 

worked (including any payment in lieu or gardening leave period) 

Damien Waller 
(resigned as an Executive effective 
31 December 2014) 

- 12 months’ notice by either party (or payment in lieu) 
- 1 month notice within 6 months of ceasing to hold the position of 

Executive Chairman or Executive Director or where the scope of 
responsibilities or authority is materially diminished 

- Entitled to pro-rata bonus, subject to achievement of KPIs, for time 
worked (including any payment in lieu or gardening leave period), 
including a consideration of the achievement against KPIs in the prior 12 
months 

- Accelerated vesting of shares and share options that would have vested 
during the notice period and/or 12 months following the date of 
termination, with the usual exercise period 

Shane Abeyratne  3 months notice by either party (or payment in lieu) 
 Where employment terminates prior to a bonus being paid, or a bonus is 

due to be paid during gardening leave, may receive a bonus payment at 
the absolute discretion of the Group 

David Christie  6 months notice by either party (or payment in lieu) 
 Where employment terminates prior to a bonus being paid, or a bonus is 

due to be paid during gardening leave, may receive a bonus payment at 
the absolute discretion of the Group 

Geraldine Davys 
(resigned effective 10 February 
2015) 

 3 months notice by either party (or payment in lieu) 
 Where employment terminates prior to a bonus being paid, or a bonus is 

due to be paid during gardening leave, may receive a bonus payment at 
the absolute discretion of the Group 

Natalie Ellisdon (appointed 27 April 
2015) 

 Fixed term contract until 5 February 2016 in Head of Brand and Campaign 
Management role 

 Appointed Interim Marketing Director (temporary secondment from fixed 
term contract role from 27 April 2015 to 20 October 2015) 

 4 weeks’ notice by either party until 4 August 2015, thereafter 2 months 
by either party (or payment in lieu)  

 Where employment terminates prior to a bonus being paid, payment in 
respect of any bonus accrued but not yet paid will not be payable 

Paul McCarthy (appointed 21 July 
2014) 

 3 months notice by either party (or payment in lieu) 
 Where employment terminates prior to a bonus being paid, or a bonus is 

due to be paid during gardening leave, may receive a bonus payment at 
the absolute discretion of the Group 

Elise Morris  3 months notice by either party (or payment in lieu) 
 Where employment terminates prior to a bonus being paid, may receive a 

bonus payment at the absolute discretion of the Company (no 
entitlement where bonus is due to be paid during gardening leave)  

Joanna Thomas 
(resigned effective 15 July 2014) 

 6 months by either party (or payment in lieu) 
 Where employment terminates prior to a bonus being paid, or a bonus is 

due to be paid during gardening leave, may receive a bonus payment at 
the absolute discretion of the Group 

Scott Wilson  3 months’ notice by either party (or payment in lieu) 
 Where employment terminates prior to a bonus being paid, or a bonus is 

due to be paid during gardening leave, may receive a bonus payment at 
the absolute discretion of the Group 

 
 

                                                           
19 All Executive contracts permit immediate termination for misconduct, breach of contract or bankruptcy. 
20 All Executive contracts include payout of statutory entitlements. 
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Link Between Group Performance, Shareholder Wealth and Remuneration  

 
The variable (or “at risk”) remuneration of Executives is linked to the Group’s performance through measures based on the 
operating performance of the business. 
 
5.1 Group Performance and STI 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2015, a significant proportion of the STI award was determined with reference to EBITDA and 
Operating Revenue. 
 
EBITDA 
The EBITDA result for the year ended 30 June 2015 was $18,591,000.  Details regarding EBITDA performance of the 
business are provided in the Operating and Financial Review in the Directors’ Report. 
 
Operating Revenue 
The Operating Revenue result for the year ended 30 June 2015 was $157,214,000.   
 
5.2 Group Performance and LTI Plan Grants 

 
LTI Plan grants were made in the financial year ended 30 June 2015.  Grants made in financial year 2015 are linked to TSR 
and EPS.   
 
5.3 Group Performance 
 

Measure FY2015 FY2014 FY2013 FY2012 

Share price at year end $1.44 $1.15 $1.70 n.a. (pre-listing) 

5 day VWAP to 30 June $1.45 $1.11 $1.62 n.a. (pre-listing) 

Dividend paid per security - - - - 

EBITDA $18,591,000 $12,078,000 $25,004,000 $24,082,000 

Operating Revenue $157,214,000 $120,366,000 $118,037,000 $111,928,000 

TSR compound annual growth 
rate (based on initial share 
price at 1 April 2013 of $1.85) 

1 April 2013 to 
30 June 2015 (27 
months):  
-10% 

1 April 2013 to 
30 June 2014  
(15 months):  
-34% 

1 April 2013 to 
30 June 2013  
(3 months): 
-41% 

n.a. (pre-listing) 

Reported earnings per share 3.7 cents 2.4 cents 6.6 cents 7.8 cents 
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5. Non-Executive Director Remuneration 
 

6.1 Remuneration Policy 
 
The Group’s Non-Executive Director remuneration strategy is designed to: 
 

- Attract and retain Directors of the highest calibre – ensure remuneration is competitive with companies of a 
similar size and complexity.  Independence and impartiality of directors is aided by no element of Director 
remuneration being ‘at risk’ (i.e. Remuneration is not based upon Group performance); and 

 
- Incur a cost that is acceptable to shareholders – the aggregate pool is set by shareholders with any change 

requiring shareholder approval at a general meeting. 
 

6.2 Remuneration Arrangements 
 
Maximum aggregate remuneration 
The aggregate remuneration paid to Non-Executive Directors is capped at a level approved by shareholders.  The current 
Non-Executive Director fee pool was set at $950,000 on 31 May 2013.  The amount of aggregate remuneration is reviewed 
annually, with no increase in the Non-Executive Director fee pool during the financial year ended 30 June 2015.   
 
Board and committee fees, as well as statutory superannuation contributions made on behalf of the Non-Executive 
Directors, are included in the aggregate fee pool.   
 
Non-Executive Director fees for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 
The table below provides details of Board and committee fees (inclusive of superannuation) for the year ended 30 June 
2015.  Director fees have not increased during financial year 2015, and the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors does 
not include any commission, incentive or percentage of profits.   
 
The Executive Chairman was not paid any fees in addition to his salary for the period he served in that role (1 July 2014 to 
30 December 2014). 
 
All committee members are also members of the Board.  No additional fees are paid to Board members for their 
participation on Committees, apart from where they act as Chair of the committee or Deputy Chair of the Board. 
Fees are annualised and include super.  
 

 Chair fee $ Deputy Chair fee $  Member fee $ 

Board21 115,000 10,000 85,000 

Audit Committee  10,000   

Remuneration Committee 10,000   

Nomination Committee 10,000   

 
6.3  Key Events Impacting Remuneration and makeup of Non-Executive Directors during the year ended 30 June 2015 
 
Executive to Independent Chairman Transition 
As announced in October 2014, following Mr Waller’s resignation from the role of Executive Chairman, the Board 
commenced a formal search for a new Independent Chairman.   
 
During his year of transition, Mr Waller received the following remuneration: 

- From 31 December 2015 until 30 June 2015, when Chris Knoblanche was appointed as Independent 
Chairman, Mr Waller performed the duties of Non-Executive Chairman, receiving director fees of $200,000 
per annum (inclusive of superannuation) pro rata.   

- Following Mr Knoblanche’s commencement, Mr Waller became a Non-Executive Director of iSelect, and for 
the period from 1 July 2015 will receive the usual member fee of $85,000 per annum (inclusive of 
superannuation). 
 

 
 
 

                                                           
21 For the Board, the Chair fee is for the Independent Chairman role.  Mr Waller, when acting as Executive Chairman during the period 1 
July to 30 December 2014, did not receive any fees for his role as Chair in addition to his salary.  For the period 31 December 2014 to 30 
June 2015, Mr Waller received an additional $115,000 per annum (pro-rated for the applicable period) for his role as Chairman. The 
Deputy Chair fee has been discontinued following Mr Camm’s departure and the move to an Independent Chairman.   
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New Independent Chairman 
Mr Knoblanche commenced as Independent Chairman on 1 July 2015.  As disclosed to the ASX at the time of his 
appointment, he receives director fees of $250,000 per annum.  He received no remuneration for the financial year ended 
30 June 2015, as he commenced in the 2016 financial year.   
 
Deputy Chairman  
Mr Camm resigned from the role of Deputy Chair, Non-Executive Director effective 31 October 2014. In addition, as a result 
of the disestablishment of the Executive Chairman role, it was decided that the role of Deputy Chairman would no longer 
apply.   
 
6.4 Remuneration Paid to Non-Executive Directors for the Year Ended 30 June 2015 
 

 
Fees &  

Allowances $ 
Short-Term 

Benefits $ 
Superannuation 

$ 
Other 

$ 
Total 

$ 

Current Non-Executive Directors 

Brodie Arnhold (from 25 September 2014) 

2015 66,420 - 6,310 - 72,730 
2014 - - - - - 

Shaun Bonètt 

2015 86,758 - 8,242 - 95,000 
2014 86,957 - 8,043 - 95,000 

Bridget Fair  

2015 77,626 - 7,374 - 85,000 
2014 58,652 - 5,425 - 64,077 

Damien Waller (from 1 January 2015 as Non-Executive Chairman) 

2015 100,000 - - - 100,000 
2014 - - - - - 

Leslie Webb 

2015 86,758 - 8,242 - 95,000 
2014 86,957 - 8,043 - 95,000 

Former Non-Executive Directors 

Greg Camm (ceased 31 October 2014) 

2015 28,919 - 2,747 - 31,666 
2014 86,957 - 8,043 - 95,000 

Pat O’Sullivan (ceased 17 April 2014) 

2015 - - - - - 
2014 74,470 - 6,889 - 81,359 

Total 

2015 446,481 - 32,915 - 479,396 
2014 393,993 - 36,443 - 430,436 
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6. Key Management Personnel Shareholdings 
 
The numbers of ordinary shares in iSelect Limited held during the financial year (directly and indirectly) by KMP of the 
Group and their related parties are set out below:  

 

 
Balance at 

start of year 
Granted as 

remuneration 
Lapsed/ 

forfeited 
Other 

changes 
Balance at end 

of year 

Current Senior Executives 

Shane Abeyratne - - - - - 

David Christie - 1,020,612 - - 1,020,612 

Natalie Ellisdon - - - - - 

Elise Morris 540,540 502,172 (540,540) - 502,172 

Paul McCarthy - 532,190 - - 532,190 

Scott Wilson 540,540 532,608 (540,540) 8,405 541,013 

Former Executives 

Geraldine Davys - 675,904 (675,904) - - 

Joanna Thomas 621,620 - (621,620) - - 

Current Executive Director 

Alex Stevens 85,384 1,630,434 - - 1,715,818 

Current Non-Executive Directors22 

Brodie Arnhold - - - - - 

Shaun Bonètt 500,000 - - 2,000,000 2,500,000 

Bridget Fair 32,495 - - 33,333 65,828 

Chris Knoblanche 37,836 - - - 37,836 

Damien Waller 32,905,010 - (1,351,350) - 31,553,660 

Leslie Webb 2,100,000 - - - 2,100,000 

Former Non-Executive Director23 

Greg Camm 97,000 - - (97,000) - 

 
7. Key Management Personnel Option Holdings 
 
The numbers of options in iSelect Limited held during the financial year (directly and indirectly) by KMP of the Group and 
their related parties are set out below24:  

 

 
Balance at 

start of year 
Granted as 

remuneration 
On exercise 

of option 
Other 

changes 
Balance at 

end of year 

Current Non-Executive Directors 

Leslie Webb25 450,000 - - (450,000) - 

 
 
 
 

                                                           
22 All increases in share holdings for Non-Executive Directors during financial year 2015 were by way of on-market purchases. 
23 Balance removed on resignation as a Non-Executive Director during the year. 
24 KMP not specified in the table above held no shares at any time during financial year 2015. 
25 Details as noted on page 21 of this report. 
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This Directors’ Report and Remuneration Report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 
On behalf of the Directors 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
Alex Stevens     Brodie Arnhold 
Director      Director 
 
Melbourne,     Melbourne, 
27 August 2015     27 August 2015 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2015 

 

  Consolidated Consolidated 
  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 
 Note $’000 $’000 

    
Upfront fees  118,425 94,457 
Click-through fees  3,331 2,746 
Advertising and subscription fees  3,411 1,850 

Upfront Revenue 
 

6 125,167 99,053 

Current period trail commission sales  26,189 31,179 
Change in value of future trail cash flow expectations   - (18,390) 
Discount unwind  5,858 8,524 

Trail Commission Revenue 6 32,047 21,313 

Total Operating Revenue  157,214 120,366 

    
Cost of sales   (90,928) (73,626) 

Gross Profit  66,286 46,740 
    
Other income  209 148 
Administrative expenses  (37,630) (34,172)  
Share based payments expense 6 (287) (638) 
Impairment of NIA loan receivable 6 (9,987) - 

Profit Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, Amortisation and Loss from 
Associate 

  
18,591 

 
12,078 

 
Depreciation and amortisation 

 
6 

 
(6,015) 

 
(6,468) 

Profit Before Interest, Tax, and Loss from Associate 
 

 12,576 5,610 

Finance income  6,357 4,479 
Finance costs  (589) (1,076) 

Net Finance Income   5,768 3,403 

 
Share of loss from associate, net of tax 

 
14 

 
(313) 

 
- 

Profit Before Income Tax Expense  18,031 9,013 
 
Income tax expense 

 
7 

 
(8,393) 

 
(2,750) 

 
Profit After Tax for the Period 

  
9,638 

 
6,263 

    
Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss)    
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss    
Foreign operations – foreign currency translation movements 19 (49) - 

Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss) Net of Tax  (49) - 

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period  9,589 6,263 

Profit attributable to owners of the Group  9,589 6,263 

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Group  9,589 6,263 

    
Earnings per share (cents per share) 22   
Basic profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent         3.7 2.4 
Diluted profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent           3.7 2.4 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2015 

 

  Consolidated Consolidated 
  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 
 Note $’000 $’000 

 
ASSETS 

   

 
Current Assets 

   

Cash and cash equivalents 8 70,542       75,906  
Trade and other receivables 9 73,761           27,960  
Trail commission receivable 10 28,174             27,452  
Other assets 11 3,758               3,262  

Total Current Assets  176,235 134,580 

 
Non-Current Assets 

   

Trade and other receivables 9 -             32,766  
Trail commission receivable 10 73,451 71,544  
Other assets 11 -             347  
Property, plant and equipment 12 7,096               7,709  
Intangible assets 13 46,200             37,546 
Investment in associate 14 4,265 - 

Total Non-Current Assets  131,012 149,912 

Total Assets  307,247 284,492 

 
LIABILITIES 

   

 
Current Liabilities 

   

Trade and other payables 15 21,050             17,702 
Provisions 16 11,828               6,249  
Other  1,082                  339  

Total Current Liabilities  33,960 24,290 

 
Non-Current Liabilities 

   

Provisions 16 2,276               2,449  
Net deferred tax liabilities 7 24,089             21,457  

Total Non-Current Liabilities  26,365 23,906 

Total Liabilities  60,325 48,196 

Net Assets  246,922 236,296 

 
EQUITY 

   

 
Contributed equity 

 
18 173,713 172,963           

Share based payment reserve 19 1,683               1,396  
Business combination reserve 19 5,571               5,571  
Foreign currency translation reserve 19 (49) - 
Retained earnings 20 66,004             56,366  

Total Equity  246,922 236,296 

    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements. 



iSelect Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

Page 35 
 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2015 
 

   
 

Issued 

 
Shared Based 

Payment 

 
Business 

Combination 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation  

 
 

Retained 

 

  Capital Reserves Reserve Reserve Earnings Total 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Balance at 1 July 2013 

 
 

 
171,313 

 
858 

 
5,571 

 
- 

 
49,984 

 
227,726 

        
Profit for the period  - - - - 6,263 6,263 
Other comprehensive income  - - - - - - 

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year  - - - - 6,263 6,263 
        
Transactions with Owners in their Capacity as Owners        
Transfers of lapsed and exercised options 18,20 95 (214) - - 119 - 
Recognition of share based payments  - 752 - - - 752 
Issue of share capital 18 1,600 - - - - 1,600 
Capitalised equity raising costs (net of tax)  (45) - - - - (45) 

 
Balance at 30 June 2014  

                    
172,963            1,396  

            
 5,571  

 
- 

          
56,366       236,296  

        
Profit for the period  - - - - 9,638 9,638 
Other comprehensive income  - - - (49) - (49) 

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year  - - - (49) 9,638 9,589 
        
Transactions with Owners in their Capacity as Owners        
Transfers of lapsed and exercised options 18, 20 - - - - - - 
Recognition of share based payments  - 287 - - - 287 
Issue of share capital 18 750 - - - - 750 
Capitalised equity raising costs (net of tax)  - - - - - - 

 
Balance at 30 June 2015 

 
 

 
173,713 

 
1,683 

 
5,571 

 
(49) 

 
66,004 

 
246,922 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2015 

 

  Consolidated Consolidated 
  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 
 Note $’000 $’000 

 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

   

Receipts from customers   166,062           131,080  
Payments to suppliers and employees   (141,084)  (119,546)  
Income taxes paid  (26) -  

Net cash provided from operating activities 8 24,952 11,534 

    
Cash Flows from Investing Activities    
Payments for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  (4,355) (4,844) 
Net payments for acquisition of subsidiaries 5 (9,701) - 
Net payments for investment in associates 14 (4,578) - 
Interest received  5,648 4,049 
Increase in NIA facility  (17,937) (17,388) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (30,923) (18,183) 

    
Cash Flows from Financing Activities    
Interest paid  (135) (713) 
Net proceeds from issue of shares  750 1,600 
Payment of IPO costs  - (3,647) 

Net cash provided from/(used in) financing activities  615 (2,760) 

 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

  
(5,356) 

 
(9,409) 

Net foreign exchange difference 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 

 (8) 
75,906 

- 
85,315 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8 70,542 75,906 

    
    
    
    
    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Corporate Information 

 
The financial report of iSelect Limited for the year ended 30 June 2015 was authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of Directors on 27 August 2015. 
 
iSelect Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian 
Securities Exchange. The consolidated financial statements of the company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2015 
comprise the financial statements of the company and its subsidiaries (as outlined in Note 27), together referred to in 
these financial statements as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”. 
 
The Group is a for-profit entity. The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the 
Directors’ Report. 
 

2. Basis of Preparation 
 

(a)  Basis of Accounting 
 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The financial report has also been prepared on a 
historical cost basis, except for certain assets, which as noted have been measured at amortised cost. 
 
All amounts are presented in Australian dollars unless otherwise noted. The company is a company of the kind 
referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class Order amounts in 
the Directors’ report and the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
 

(b)  Statement of Compliance 
 
The financial report complies with the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 

(c)  Clarification of Terminology Used in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income and the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Under the requirements of AASB 101: “Presentation of Financial Statements”, the Group classifies expenses 
(apart from any finance costs) according to either the nature (type) of the expense or function (activity to which 
the expense relates).  The Directors have chosen to classify expenses using the nature classification as it more 
accurately reflects the type of operations undertaken.  
 
Earnings (profit) before interest, income tax expense, depreciation, amortisation and loss from associate 
(EBITDA) reflects profit for the year prior to including the effect of net finance costs, income taxes, depreciation, 
amortisation and loss from associate.  Depreciation and amortisation are calculated in accordance with AASB 
116: “Property, Plant and Equipment” and AASB 138 “Intangible Assets” respectively.  In addition to this, the 
Directors believe that EBITDA is a relevant and useful financial measure used by management to measure the 
Group’s operating performance. 
 
Group management uses EBITDA and earnings (profit) before interest and income tax expense (EBIT), in 
combination with other financial measures, primarily to evaluate the Group’s operating performance before 
financing, income tax and non-cash capital related expenses.  In addition, the Directors believe EBITDA is useful 
to investors because analysts and other members of the investment community largely view EBITDA as a key and 
widely recognised measure of operating performance. 
 
EBIT is a similar measure to EBITDA, but it takes into account depreciation, amortisation and loss from associate. 
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2. Basis of Preparation (continued) 
 

(d)  New Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
 
New standards effective from 1 July 2014 
The Group has adopted the following new and revised Accounting Standards issued by the AASB that are relevant 
to its operations. 
 

Reference Title Application 
date of 
standard 

Application 
date for 
Group 

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Offsetting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
 
AASB 2012-3 adds application guidance to AASB 132 Financial 
Instruments: Presentation to address inconsistencies identified 
in applying some of the offsetting criteria of AASB 132, including 
clarifying the meaning of "currently has a legally enforceable 
right of set-off" and that some gross settlement systems may be 
considered equivalent to net settlement. 

1 January 2014 1 July 2014 

AASB 1031 Materiality 
 
The revised AASB 1031 is an interim standard that cross-
references to other Standards and the Framework (issued 
December 2013) that contain guidance on materiality.  
AASB 1031 will be withdrawn when references to AASB 1031 in 
all Standards and Interpretations have been removed.  
AASB 2014-1 Part C issued in June 2014 makes amendments to 
eight Australian Accounting Standards to delete their references 
to AASB 1031.  

1 January 2014 1 July 2014 

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual 
Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments 
 
The Standard contains three main parts and makes 
amendments to a number Standards and Interpretations.  
Part A of AASB 2013-9 makes consequential amendments 
arising from the issuance of AASB CF 2013-1.  
Part B makes amendments to particular Australian Accounting 
Standards to delete references to AASB 1031 and also makes 
minor editorial amendments to various other standards. 
Part C makes amendments to a number of Australian 
Accounting Standards, including incorporating Chapter 6 Hedge 
Accounting into AASB 9 Financial Instruments. 

1 January 2014 1 July 2014 

AASB 2014-1  
Part A -Annual 
Improvements  
2010–2012 Cycle 

AASB 2014-1 Part A: This standard sets out amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from the issuance by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) of 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) Annual 
Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle and Annual 
Improvements to IFRSs 2011–2013 Cycle. 
 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle  addresses the 
following items: 

 AASB 2 - Clarifies the definition of 'vesting conditions' and 
'market condition' and introduces the definition of 
'performance condition' and 'service condition'. 

 AASB 3 - Clarifies the classification requirements for 
contingent consideration in a business combination by 
removing all references to AASB 137. 

 AASB 8 - Requires entities to disclose factors used to 
identify the entity's reportable segments when operating 
segments have been aggregated.  An entity is also required 
to provide a reconciliation of total reportable segments' 
asset to the entity's total assets.   

 AASB 116 & AASB 138 - Clarifies that the determination of 
accumulated depreciation does not depend on the 
selection of the valuation technique and that it is calculated 
as the difference between the gross and net carrying 
amounts. 

1 July 2014 1 July 2014 
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2. Basis of Preparation (continued) 
  
(d) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued) 
  

New standards effective from 1 July 2014 (continued) 
 

Reference Title Application 
date of 
standard 

Application 
date for 
Group 

AASB 2014-1  
Part A -Annual 
Improvements  
2010–2012 Cycle 
(continued) 

AASB 124 - Defines a management entity providing KMP 
services as a related party of the reporting entity. The 
amendments added an exemption from the detailed disclosure 
requirements in paragraph 17 of AASB 124 for KMP services 
provided by a management entity. Payments made to a 
management entity in respect of KMP services should be 
separately disclosed. 

  

Amendments to 
AASB 1053 – 
Transition to and 
between Tiers, 
and related Tier 2 
Disclosure 
Requirements  
 

The Standard makes amendments to AASB 1053 Application of 
Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards to: 
 clarify that AASB 1053 relates only to general purpose 

financial statements; 
 make AASB 1053 consistent with the availability of the 

AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors option in AASB 1 First-time Adoption 
of Australian Accounting Standards; 

 clarify certain circumstances in which an entity applying 
Tier 2 reporting requirements can apply the AASB 108 
option in AASB 1; permit an entity applying Tier 2 
reporting requirements for the first time to do so directly 
using the requirements in AASB 108 (rather that applying 
AASB 1) when, and only when, the entity had not applied, 
or only selectively applied, applicable recognition and 
measurement requirements in its most recent previous 
annual special purpose financial statements; and 

 specify certain disclosure requirements when an entity 
resumes the application of Tier 2 reporting requirements. 

1 July 2014 1 July 2014 

 

  
New standards and interpretations issued not yet adopted  
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 
effective and have not been adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2015 are 
outlined below. Management is currently working through the implications of these changes. 
 

Reference Title Summary and Impact on Group financial 
report 

Application 
date of 
standard 

Application 
date for 
Group 

AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments 

AASB 9 (December 2014) is a new Principal standard 
which replaces AASB 139. This new Principal version 
supersedes AASB 9 issued in December 2009 (as 
amended) and AASB 9 (issued in December 2010) 
and includes a model for classification and 
measurement, a single, forward-looking ‘expected 
loss’ impairment model and a substantially-reformed 
approach to hedge accounting. 

AASB 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2018. However, the Standard is 
available for early application. The own credit 
changes can be early applied in isolation without 
otherwise changing the accounting for financial 
instruments. 
 
The final version of AASB 9 introduces a new 
expected-loss impairment model that will require 
more timely recognition of expected credit losses. 
Specifically, the new Standard requires entities to 
account for expected credit losses from when 
financial instruments are first recognised and to 
recognise full lifetime expected losses on a more 
timely basis. 
 

1 January 2018 1 July 2018 
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2. Basis of Preparation (continued) 
  
(d) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued) 
  

New standards and interpretations issued not yet adopted (continued) 
 

 
 
Reference 

 
 
Title 

 
 

Summary and Impact on Group financial report 

Application 
date of 

standard 

Application 
date for 

Group 
AASB 9 
(continued) 

Financial 
Instruments 
(continued) 

Amendments to  AASB 9  (December 2009 & 2010 
editions and AASB 2013-9)  issued in December 2013 
included the new hedge accounting requirements, 
including changes to hedge effectiveness testing, 
treatment of hedging costs, risk components that can 
be hedged and disclosures. 

AASB 9 includes requirements for a simpler approach 
for classification and measurement of financial assets 
compared with the requirements of AASB 139. 

The main changes are described below. 

a. Financial assets that are debt instruments will be 
classified based on (1) the objective of the 
entity's business model for managing the 
financial assets; (2) the characteristics of the 
contractual cash flows. 

b. Allows an irrevocable election on initial 
recognition to present gains and losses on 
investments in equity instruments that are not 
held for trading in other comprehensive income. 
Dividends in respect of these investments that 
are a return on investment can be recognised in 
profit or loss and there is no impairment or 
recycling on disposal of the instrument. 

c. Financial assets can be designated and measured 
at fair value through profit or loss at initial 
recognition if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities, or recognising the gains and 
losses on them, on different bases. 

d. Where the fair value option is used for financial 
liabilities the change in fair value is to be 
accounted for as follows: 

 The change attributable to changes in 
credit risk are presented in other 
comprehensive income (OCI) 

 The remaining change is presented in profit 
or loss 

AASB 9 also removes the volatility in profit or loss 
that was caused by changes in the credit risk of 
liabilities elected to be measured at fair value. This 
change in accounting means that gains caused by the 
deterioration of an entity’s own credit risk on such 
liabilities are no longer recognised in profit or loss. 
Consequential amendments were also made to 
other standards as a result of AASB 9, introduced by 
AASB 2009-11 and superseded by AASB 2010-7, 
AASB 2010-10 and AASB 2014-1 – Part E. 

AASB 2014-7 incorporates the consequential 
amendments arising from the issuance of AASB 9 in 
Dec 2014. 

AASB 2014-8 limits the application of the existing 
versions of AASB 9 (AASB 9 (December 2009) and 
AASB 9 (December 2010)) from 1 February 2015 and 
applies to annual reporting periods beginning on after 
1 January 2015. 
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2. Basis of Preparation (continued) 
  
(d) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued) 
  

New standards and interpretations issued not yet adopted (continued) 
 

 
 
Reference 

 
 
Title 

 
Summary and Impact on Group financial 

report 

Application 
date of 

standard 

Application 
date for 

Group 
AASB 2014-
4 

Clarification of 
Acceptable 
Methods of 
Depreciation and 
Amortisation 
(Amendments to 
AASB 116 and 
AASB 138) 

AASB 116 and AASB 138 both establish the principle 
for the basis of depreciation and amortisation as 
being the expected pattern of consumption of the 
future economic benefits of an asset.  
The IASB has clarified that the use of revenue-based 
methods to calculate the depreciation of an asset is 
not appropriate because revenue generated by an 
activity that includes the use of an asset generally 
reflects factors other than the consumption of the 
economic benefits embodied in the asset. 
The amendment also clarified that revenue is 
generally presumed to be an inappropriate basis for 
measuring the consumption of the economic 
benefits embodied in an intangible asset. This 
presumption, however, can be rebutted in certain 
limited circumstances. 

1 January 
2016 

1 July 2016 

AASB 15 

 

Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers 

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers, which replaces IAS 11 
Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related 
Interpretations (IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty 
Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the 
Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfers of 
Assets from Customers and  SIC-31 Revenue—Barter 
Transactions Involving Advertising Services).  
 
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity 
recognises revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an 
amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 
goods or services. An entity recognises revenue in 
accordance with that core principle by applying the 
following steps: 
(a) Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer 
(b) Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in 
the contract 
(c) Step 3: Determine the transaction price 
(d) Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the 
performance obligations in the contract 
(e) Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the 
entity satisfies a performance obligation 
 
Early application of this standard is permitted. 
 
AASB 2014-5 incorporates the consequential 
amendments to a number Australian Accounting 
Standards (including Interpretations) arising from 
the issuance of AASB 15. 

1 January 
2017 

1 July 2017 
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2. Basis of Preparation (continued) 
 

(d) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued) 

  
New standards and interpretations issued not yet adopted (continued) 
 

 
 
Reference 

 
 
Title 

 
Summary and Impact on Group financial 

report 

Application 
date of 

standard 

Application 
date for 

Group 

AASB 2015-
1 

Amendments to 
Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Annual 
Improvements to 
Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 2012–
2014 Cycle 

The subjects of the principal amendments to the 
Standards are set out below: 
 
AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations:   
Changes in methods of disposal – where an entity 
reclassifies an asset (or disposal group) directly from 
being held for distribution to being held for sale (or 
vice versa), an entity shall not follow the guidance in 
paragraphs 27–29 to account for this change.  

 
AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:  
Servicing contracts  - clarifies how an entity should 
apply the guidance in paragraph 42C of AASB 7 to a 
servicing contract to decide whether a servicing 
contract is ‘continuing involvement’ for the 
purposes of applying the disclosure requirements in 
paragraphs 42E–42H of AASB 7. 
 
Applicability of the amendments to AASB 7 to 
condensed interim financial statements - clarify that 
the additional disclosure required by the 
amendments to AASB 7 Disclosure–Offsetting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities is not 
specifically required for all interim periods. 
However, the additional disclosure is required to be 
given in condensed interim financial statements that 
are prepared in accordance with AASB 134 Interim 
Financial Reporting when its inclusion would be 
required by the requirements of AASB 134. 
 
AASB 119 Employee Benefits: 
Discount rate: regional market issue - clarifies that 
the high quality corporate bonds used to estimate 
the discount rate for post-employment benefit 
obligations should be denominated in the same 
currency as the liability. Further it clarifies that the 
depth of the market for high quality corporate 
bonds should be assessed at the currency level. 
 
AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting:  
Disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim 
financial report’ -amends AASB 134 to clarify the 
meaning of disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in 
the interim financial report’ and to require the 
inclusion of a cross-reference from the interim 
financial statements to the location of this 
information. 

1 January 
2017 

1 July 2017 
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2. Basis of Preparation (continued) 
 

(d) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued) 

  
New standards and interpretations issued not yet adopted (continued) 
 

 
 
Reference 

 
 
Title 

 
Summary and Impact on Group financial 

report 

Application 
date of 

standard 

Application 
date for 

Group 

AASB 2015-
2 

Amendments to 
Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Disclosure 
Initiative: 
Amendments to 
AASB 101 

The Standard makes amendments to AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements arising from 
the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative project. The 
amendments are designed to further encourage 
companies to apply professional judgment in 
determining what information to disclose in the 
financial statements.  For example, the amendments 
make clear that materiality applies to the whole of 
financial statements and that the inclusion of 
immaterial information can inhibit the usefulness of 
financial disclosures.  The amendments also clarify 
that companies should use professional judgment in 
determining where and in what order information is 
presented in the financial disclosures. 

1 January 
2016 

1 July 2016 

AASB 2015-
3 

Amendments to 
Australian 
Accounting 
Standards arising 
from the 
Withdrawal of 
AASB 1031 
Materiality 

The Standard completes the AASB’s project to 
remove Australian guidance on materiality from 
Australian Accounting Standards. 

1 July 2015 1 July 2015 

 

  
(e) Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions 
  

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and 
the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions 
and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or 
liabilities affected in future periods. 
 
Estimates and Assumptions 
 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on 
parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and 
assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising 
beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is recognised at the point in time where the Group has essentially completed its contracted service with 
its product providers and it is probable that the Group will receive the revenue in relation to the underlying 
consumer. This point in time is where a consumer is referred to a product provider. As such, the Group 
determines a reliable measurement of its revenue on the basis of the probability of a ‘referred’ sale becoming a 
‘financial’ or paid sale on the basis of extensive historical statistical and trend data. Revenue is recognised on a 
net basis of the historical percentage of ‘referred’ sales expected to become ‘financial’ and is adjusted to actual 
percentages experienced at each reporting date. Where this information cannot be reliably measured, the Group 
recognises revenue at the time the consumer makes its first payment to the product provider. 
 

Trail Commission Receivable 
The Group has elected to account for trail commission revenue at the time of selling a product to which trail 
commission attaches, rather than on the basis of actual payments received from the relevant fund or providers 
involved. This method of revenue recognition requires the Directors and management to make certain estimates 
and assumptions based on industry data and the historical experience of the Group. In undertaking this 
responsibility, the Group engages Deloitte Actuaries and Consultants Limited, a firm of consulting actuaries, to  
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2. Basis of Preparation (continued) 
 

(e) Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions (continued) 
 
Estimates and Assumptions (continued) 

  
 Trail Commission Receivable (continued) 
  

assist in reviewing the accuracy of assumptions for health, general, mortgages and life trail revenue. These 
estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to: termination or lapse rates, mortality rates, inflation, 
risk free and other discount rates, counter party credit risk, forecast fund premium increases and the estimated 
impact of known Australian Federal and State Government policy.  
 
The Directors consider this method of trail commission recognition to be a more accurate representation of the 
Group’s financial results. This method is further detailed in Note 3(f). 
 
Clawback Provisions 
Upfront fees received from certain insurance funds, broadband providers and mortgage brokers can be clawed 
back in the event of early termination of membership. They vary across the insurance industry and insurers and 
are usually triggered where a referred member terminates their policy. Each relevant Product Provider has an 
individual agreement and the clawback period ranges between 0 and 12 months, depending on the agreement. 
The Group provides for this liability based upon historic average rates of attrition and recognises revenue net of 
these clawback amounts.  
 
Provisions for Employee Benefits 
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the present obligation at the reporting date using the discounted cash flow methodology. The risks specific 
to the provision are factored into the cash flows and as such a government bond rate relative to the expected life 
of the provision is used as a discount rate. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 
The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as interest expense. 
 

 Research and Development Costs 
Internal project costs are classified as research or development based on management’s assessment of the 
nature of each cost and the underlying activities performed. Management performs this assessment against the 
Group’s development costs policy which is consistent with the requirements of AASB 138 Intangible Assets. 
 
Taxation 
The Group’s accounting policy for taxation requires management’s judgement as to the types of arrangements 
considered to be a tax on income in contrast to an operating cost. Judgement is also required in assessing 
whether deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the consolidated statement of 
financial position. Deferred tax assets, including those arising from unrecouped tax losses, capital losses and 
temporary differences, are recognised only where it is considered more likely than not that they will be 
recovered, which is dependent on the generation of sufficient future taxable profits. Assumptions about the 
generation of future taxable profits depend on management’s estimates of future cash flows. These depend on 
estimates of future sales volumes, operating costs, capital expenditure, dividends and other capital management 
transactions.  
 
Judgements are also required about the application of income tax legislation in respect of the availability of carry 
forward tax losses. These judgements and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty, hence there is a 
possibility that changes in circumstances will alter expectations, which may impact the amount of deferred tax 
assets and deferred tax liabilities recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position and the amount 
of other tax losses and temporary differences not yet recognised. In such circumstances, some or all of the 
carrying amounts of recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities may require adjustment, resulting in a 
corresponding credit or charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
in future periods. 
 

Share Based Payments 
Accounting estimates and assumptions in relation to share based payments are discussed in Note 31.  
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2. Basis of Preparation (continued) 
 

(e) Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions (continued) 
 

Estimates and Assumptions (continued) 
  
 Initial Recognition of Identifiable Assets and Liabilities Upon Acquisition. 

On 1 July 2014, the Group obtained control of General Brokerage Services Pty Ltd and its controlled entities 
(Energy Watch), an online comparison company dealing in energy products. Accounting estimates and 
assumptions in relation to the initial recognition of the identifiable assets and liabilities at fair value are discussed 
in detail in Note 5. 

 
Determination of Value-In-Use of Goodwill, Brand names and Trademarks 
As part of the Group’s annual impairment testing for indefinite life intangible assets, accounting estimates and 
assumptions have been applied in determining the value-in-use of cash-generating units where such intangible 
assets have been allocated. Further information of these estimates and assumptions are discussed in detail in 
Note 13. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies  
  

(a)  Basis of Consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 
30 June 2015. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has the power over the investee (i.e. existing 
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee), the exposure, or rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and has the ability to use its power over the investee to 
affect its returns. 
  
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including the contractual 
arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee, rights arising from other contractual arrangements and 
the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights. 
 
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date 
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.  
 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of 
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to 
bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets, liabilities, 
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated 
in full on consolidation. 
 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it de-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and 
liabilities of the subsidiary, non-controlling interest and other components of equity while any resultant gain or 
loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.  
 

(b)  Business Combinations and Goodwill 
 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as 
the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure 
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative 
expenses.  
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by 
the acquiree. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is remeasured at its 
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope 
of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value and changes in fair 
value recognised either in profit or loss or as a change to OCI. If the contingent consideration is not within the 
scope of AASB 139, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate Australian Accounting Standard. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted 
for within equity.  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

(b)  Business Combinations and Goodwill (continued) 
 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 
amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate 
consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and 
all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the 
acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the 
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.  
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each 
of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether 
other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.  
 
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is 
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured 
based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.  
 
Business Combination Reserve 
 
The internal Group restructure performed in the 2007 financial year, which interposed the holding Company, 
iSelect Limited, into the consolidated Group was exempted by AASB 3 Business Combinations as it precludes 
entities or businesses under common control. 
 
The carry-over basis method of accounting was used for the restructuring of the iSelect Group. As such, the 
assets and liabilities were reflected at their carrying amounts. No adjustments were made to reflect fair values, 
or recognise any new assets or liabilities. No goodwill was recognised as a result of the combination and any 
difference between the consideration paid and the ‘equity’ acquired was reflected within equity as an equity 
reserve titled “Business Combination Reserve”. 
 

(c)  Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures 
 
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over 
those policies.  
 
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an 
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the 
parties sharing control. 
 
The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to 
determine control over subsidiaries.  
 
The Group’s investments in its associate is accounted for using the equity method. The Group does not hold an 
investment in joint ventures. 
 
Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of 
the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets or the associate or joint 
venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the 
investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. 
 
The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income reflects the Group’s share of the 
results of operations of the associate. Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s 
OCI. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group 
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and 
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the 
interest in the associate. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

(c)  Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures (continued) 

 
 The financial statements of the associate is prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When 

necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 
 
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an 
impairment loss on its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there 
is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, 
the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the 
associate and its carrying value, then recognises the loss as ‘Share of profit or loss of an associate’ in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  
 
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognizes any retained 
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the recoverable amount of the associate upon loss of 
significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in 
profit or loss.  
 

(d)  Current versus Non-Current Classification 
 
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current 
classification.  
 
An asset is current when it is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the Group’s normal 
operating cycle, held primarily for the purpose of trading, expected to be realized within twelve months after the 
reporting date or cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for 
at least twelve months after the reporting period. The Group classifies all other assets as non-current. 
 
A liability is current when it is expected to be settled in the Group’s normal operating cycle, it is held primarily for 
the purpose of trading, it is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period or there is no 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 
The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.  
 

(e)  Foreign Currency Translation 
 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is also the Parent’s 
functional currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the 
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The Group uses the direct 
method of consolidation and on disposal of a foreign operation, the gain or loss that is reclassified to profit or 
loss reflects the amount that arises from using this method. 
 
Transactions and Balances 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional 
currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. 
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot 
rates of exchange at the reporting date. 
 
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss with the 
exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign 
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed of, at which 
time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange 
differences on those monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive income. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

(e)  Foreign Currency Translation (continued) 
 

Transactions and Balances (continued) 
 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss 
arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of gain 
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e. translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is 
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss are also recognised in other comprehensive income 
or profit or loss, respectively). 
 
Group Companies 
 
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at the rate 
of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated at exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation 
purposes are recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of 
other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
operation and translated at the spot rate of exchange at the reporting date. 
 

(f)  Revenue Recognition 
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and can 
be reliably measured. 
 
Fee Revenue  
The Group primarily earns two distinct types of fee based revenue: upfront fees and trail commission. 

 
(i) Upfront fees 
Upfront fees are earned upon new members joining a health fund, initiating a life insurance policy, obtaining 
general insurance products, mortgages, broadband or energy products via iSelect. Upfront fees may trigger a 
‘clawback’ of revenue in the event of early termination by customers as specified in individual product provider 
agreements. These clawbacks are provided for by the Group on a monthly basis by utilising industry data and 
historical experience. 
  
(ii) Trail commission  
Trail commissions are ongoing fees for customers referred to individual funds or who have applied for mortgages 
via iSelect. Trail commission revenue represents commission earned calculated as a percentage of the value of 
the underlying policy relationship of the expected life and in the case of mortgages a proportion of the 
underlying value of the loan. The Group is entitled to receive trail commission without having to perform further 
services. On initial recognition, trail revenue and receivables are recognised at fair value, being the present value 
of expected future trail cash receipts discounted to their present value using discounted cash flow valuation 
techniques. These calculations require the use of assumptions. Due to the differences in underlying product 
characteristics and product provider circumstances, the discount rates applied in the most recent valuation of 
the trail commission receivable range between 3.2% and 7.8% (2014: 4.0% and 7.8%) across financial institutions 
and health, life and car insurers. The Group specifically provides for known or expected risks to future cash flows 
outside of the discount rate, particularly for the impact of attrition. Attrition rates in Health are particularly 
relevant to the overall trail commission receivable considering the relative size of the Health trail commission 
receivable. Attrition rates vary substantially by provider and also by the duration of time the policy has been in 
force, with rates generally higher in policies under two years old. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
  

(f)  Revenue Recognition (continued) 
 
(ii) Trail commission sales (continued) 
The attrition rates used in the valuation of the Health portfolio at 30 June 2015 ranged from 6.5% to 21.0% 
(2014: 4.6% to 18.6%). The simple average duration band attrition increase was up to 2.3% during the period, 
with higher increases experienced for policies that have been in force for shorter periods of time. 

  
The key assumptions underlying the fair value calculations of trail revenue receivable at reporting date include, 
but are not limited to: lapse and mortality rates, commission term, premium increases and discount rate, 
incorporating risk free rates and estimates of the likely credit risk associated with the funds and credit providers. 
 
For the period ended 30 June 2015, experienced and observed levels of health and car insurance policy lapses 
increased significantly. The Directors believe that these trends are likely to impact expected future commission 
cash flows and accordingly the lapse rates assumed in determining the carrying value of the trail commission 
receivable were increased. 
 
It is the Directors’ responsibility to determine the assumptions used and the fair value of trail revenue. In 
undertaking this responsibility, the Group engages Deloitte Actuaries and Consultants Limited, a firm of 
consulting actuaries, to assist in reviewing the accuracy of assumptions and the fair value model utilised to 
determine the fair value of health, life, mortgages and general fund trail revenue and the accompanying asset. 
The trail commission is a Directors’ valuation and is based on the same principles as outlined above. Subsequent 
to initial recognition and measurement, the trail revenue asset is measured at amortised cost. The carrying 
amount of the trail revenue asset is adjusted to reflect actual and revised estimated cash flows by recalculating 
the carrying amount through computing the present value of estimated future cash flows at the original effective 
interest rate. The resulting adjustment is recognised as income or expense in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
Click-Through Fee 
Click-through fee is recognised based on the contractual arrangement with the relevant product provider. This 
can occur at one of three points, either when an internet user clicks on a paying advertiser’s link, submits an 
application, or a submitted application is approved. 
 
Advertising and Subscription Fee 
Revenue for contracted services, including advertising and subscription fee, is recognised systematically over the 
term of the contract. Revenue for services provided other than pursuant to a defined period contract is 
recognised during the month services are provided. 
 

(g)  Leases 
 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the 
asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement. 
 
Group as a Lessee 
 
A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Group is classified as a finance lease. An 
operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. 
 
Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the inception date fair value of the leased 
property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Leases payments are apportioned 
between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in finance costs in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that 
the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the 
estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

(g)  Leases (continued) 
 
Group as a Lessor 
 
Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of an asset are 
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned. 
 

(h)  Cash and Short Term Deposits 
 
Cash and short-term deposits in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and on 
hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part 
of the Group’s cash management.  
 

(i)  Trade and Other Receivables 

All trade and other receivables recognised as current assets are due for settlement within no more than 30 days 
for marketing fees and within one year for trail commission. Trade receivables are measured on the basis of 
amortised cost and trail commission is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost.  

 
Recoverability of trade and other receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be 
uncollectible are written off.  A provision for doubtful debts is raised where some doubt as to collection exists 
 

(j)  Taxes 
 
Current Income Tax 
 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 
the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable 
income. 
 
Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to 
interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.  
 
Deferred Tax 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.  
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except: 
 

 When the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 

 In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint arrangements, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
  

(j)  Taxes (continued) 
 
Deferred Tax (continued) 
 

 When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

 In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that 
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to 
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.  
 
Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.  
 
Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at 
that date, are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change. The 
adjustment is either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred 
during the measurement period or recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Tax Consolidation Legislation 
 
iSelect Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation 
legislation. Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement. Each entity is 
responsible for remitting its share of the current tax payable/receivable assumed by the head entity. 
 
In accordance with Group accounting policy, the Group has applied UIG 1052, in which the head entity, iSelect 
Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated Group continue to account for their own current and 
deferred tax amounts. 
 
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, iSelect Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities 
(or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from 
controlled entities in the tax consolidated Group.  
 
The allocation of taxes to the head entity is recognised as an increase/decrease in the controlled entities 
intercompany accounts with the tax consolidated Group head entity. 
 
Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except: 
 

 When the GST incurred on a sale or purchase of assets or services is not payable to or recoverable from the 
taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the revenue or the expense item or as part 
of the cost of acquisition of the asset, as applicable. 

 When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

(j)  Taxes (continued) 
 
Goods and Services Tax (GST) (continued) 
 
The net amount of GST recovered from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the consolidated statement of financial position. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net 
of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 
 
Cash flows are included in the consolidated statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of 
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
classified as part of operating cash flows.  

  
(k)  Property, Plant and Equipment 

 
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss, if any. 
When significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group depreciates 
them separately based on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is 
recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are 
satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  

  
 Depreciation is calculated over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows: 

 
 Useful Life Method 

Computer software/equipment 2 to 5 years Straight-line method 
Furniture, fixtures and fittings 8 years Straight-line method 
Leasehold improvements 8 to 10 years Straight-line method 
Motor vehicles 3 years Straight-line method 

 
An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.   
 
The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at 
each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.  
 

(l)  Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is measured at fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not 
capitalised and expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. 
 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or infinite. Intangible assets with finite lives 
are amortised over the useful life and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite 
useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the 
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify 
the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates and 
adjusted on a prospective basis. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in 
the profit or loss as the expense category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets.  
 
Amortisation is calculated over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows: 
 

 Useful Life 

Development costs (including website development) 2 to 5 years 
Trademarks and domain names Indefinite 
Computer software 2 to 4 years 
Brand names Indefinite 
Goodwill Indefinite 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
  

(l) Intangible Assets (continued) 
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangibles are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite 
life is reviewed at each reporting period to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be 
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for as a change 
in an accounting estimate and is made on a prospective basis. 
 
Gains and losses arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the 
asset is derecognised. 
 
Research and Development costs 
Research costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset arising from development expenditure on an 
internal project is recognised only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the 
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete, its ability to use or sell the 
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the asset, 
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development and the ability to use the intangible asset 
generated. Following the initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset begins 
when development is complete and the asset is available for use. It is amortised over the period of expected 
future benefit. During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment annually. Website 
development costs capitalised as an intangible asset are amortised on a straight line basis with a useful life as 
previously detailed. 
 
Trademarks and Domain Names 
The Group made upfront payments to purchase trademarks and domain names and can be renewed at little or 
no cost to the Group. As a result, those trademarks and domain names are assessed as having an indefinite 
useful life. 
 
Goodwill 
Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. For the measurement of 
goodwill at initial recognition, see Note 3(b). Subsequently goodwill is measured at cost, and is tested for 
impairment annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, 
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit 
from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those 
units. 
 
Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the 
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured 
based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 
 
Restatement of Goodwill 
Goodwill acquired through the Infochoice Limited acquisition on 14 November 2011 was allocated to the cash 
generating units (CGUs) post the acquisition.  Recently identified information regarding initial allocation 
calculations has given rise to a re-allocation as outlined in the table below.  This correction has had no effect on 
consolidated net assets, consolidated profit and reported basic or diluted earnings per share for the current or 
prior periods.  
 

 
Segment 

 
CGU 

Initial 
Allocation 

$’000 

 
Adjustment 

$’000 

Revised 
Allocation 

$’000 

Health and car insurance Health 4,634 2,011 6,645 
 Car 1,659 720 2,379 
Household utilities and financial Home loans 10,088 (5,708) 4,380 
 Money 6,801 2,953 9,754 
 Life 53 24 77 

  23,235 - 23,235 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
  

(m)  Investments  
 
Investments in controlled entities are carried at the lower of cost or recoverable amount. 
 

(n)  Loans and borrowings 
 
Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs. After initial 
recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when 
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate method amortisation process.  
 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that 
are an integral part of the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate method amortisation is 
included in finance costs in the income statement. 
 

(o)  Financial Instruments – Initial Recognition and Subsequent Measurement 
 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity. 
 
i. Financial Assets 

 
Initial Recognition and Measurement 
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and receivables (including trail commission 
receivable) or held-to-maturity investments. All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the 
case of financial assets not subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.  
 
Subsequent Measurement 
For the purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into two categories: Loans and 
receivables (including trail commission receivable) and held-to-maturity investments. 
 

Loans and Receivables (Including Trail Commission Receivable) 
This category is the most relevant to the Group. Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, 
such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) 
method, less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance 
income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The losses arising 
from impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income in finance costs for loans and in cost of sales or other operating expenses for receivables. This 
category generally applies to trade and other receivables. For more information on receivables, refer to 
notes 9 and 10. 

  
Held-To-Maturity Investments 
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are classified as 
held-to-maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. After initial 
measurement, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the EIR, less impairment. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance income in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The losses arising from impairment are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as finance costs.  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

(o) Financial Instruments – Initial Recognition and Subsequent Measurement (continued) 

 
i. Financial Assets (continued) 

 
 Derecognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
primarily derecognized (i.e. removed from the group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when the 
rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay 
to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 
 
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of 
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing 
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the 
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. 
 
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be 
required to repay.  

 
 Impairment of Financial Assets  

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that has occurred since the initial 
recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may 
include indications that the debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.  

 
The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have 
not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial 
asset’s original EIR. 
 
Financial Assets Carried at Amortised Cost  
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed 
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit 
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective 
assessment of impairment.  
 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised 
in profit or loss. Interest income (recorded in finance income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income) continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the 
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans, 
together with the associated allowance, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery 
and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of 
the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance 
account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to finance costs in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

(o) Financial Instruments – Initial Recognition and Subsequent Measurement (continued) 

 
ii. Financial Liabilities 
 
Initial Recognition and Measurement 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and borrowings or payables. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of 
loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.  
 
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and may include loans and borrowings 
(including bank overdrafts). 
 
Subsequent Measurement 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as described below: 
 

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit of loss. Financial liabilities are 
classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. Gains or 
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss. Financial liabilities designated upon initial 
recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the 
criteria in AASB 139 are satisfied. The Group has not designated any financial liability as at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

  
Loans and Borrowings 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized 
as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR 
amortisation is included in finance costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. As at 30 June 2015, the Group does not have any loans and borrowings. For more 
information refer to Note 17. 

 
Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss. 

  
iii. Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

 
(p) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

 
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) 
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, 
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group 
of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no 
such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated 
by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.  
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3. 

 
(p)  

Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Impairment of Non-Financial Assets (continued) 

 
An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased, except in relation to goodwill. If such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only 
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 
recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods. Such 
reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared 
separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast 
calculations generally cover a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and 
applied to projected future cash flows after the fifth year.  
 
Impairment losses on continuing operations are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income in expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.  

 
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an 
indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication  
exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount 
since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset 
does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income unless the asset is carried at a 
revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 
 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired. 
 
Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to 
which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an 
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in 
future periods. 
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually at the CGU level, as appropriate, 
and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

 
(q)  Trade and Other Payables 

 
Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost and represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Group prior to the end of the reporting date that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes 
obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. 
 

(r)  Comparative Balances 
 
Accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year. Where revenue and expenses have 
been reallocated between departments or within revenue and expense lines, the comparatives for the previous 
year and if applicable corresponding balance sheet movement have been reallocated to assist comparability 
between the years. 
 

(s)  Onerous Contracts 
 
A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group from the 
contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is 
measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected 
net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the Group recognises any impairment 
loss on assets associated with the contract. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

(t)  Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Group expects some 
or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised 
as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is 
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income net of any 
reimbursement. 
 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as a borrowing cost. 
 
Wages, Salaries and Sick Leave 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits are recognised in respect of employees’ 
services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. Expenses for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at 
the rates paid or payable. 
 
Long Service Leave and Annual Leave 
The Group does not expect its long service leave or annual leave benefits to be settled wholly within 12 months 
of each reporting date. The Group recognises a liability for long service leave and annual leave measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields at the reporting date on corporate bond rates with terms to maturity and currencies that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
 
Clawback provisions 
Upfront fees received from certain insurance funds, broadband providers and mortgage brokers can be clawed 
back in the event of early termination of membership. They vary across the insurance industry and insurers and 
are usually triggered where a referred member terminates their policy. Each relevant Product Provider has an 
individual agreement and the clawback period ranges between 0 and 12 months, depending on the agreement. 
The Group provides for this liability based upon historic average rates of attrition and recognises revenue net of 
these clawback amounts.  
 

(u)  Share based payments 
 
The Group provides benefits to its employees (including key management personnel) in the form of share-based 
payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity settled 
transactions). 
 
During the year there were three plans in place to provide these benefits: 

 The FY2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (FY2015 LTI Plan), which provides benefits to employees and key 
management personnel; 

 The FY2013 Long Term Incentive Plan (FY2013 LTI Plan), which provides benefits to employees and key 
management personnel; and 

 The Employee Share Option Plan, comprising the 2010 Option Plan and 2011 Option Plan, which provides 
benefits to employees, including Directors. 

 
The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they were granted. The fair value was determined by the Directors and 
management using a Binomial model.  
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period), ending on the date 
on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting date).  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
  

(u)  Share Based Payments (continued) 
 
At each subsequent reporting date until vesting, the cumulative charge to the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income is the product of (i) the grant date fair value of the award; (ii) the current 
best estimate of the number of awards that will vest, taking into account such factors as the likelihood of 
employee turnover during the vesting period and the likelihood of non-market performance conditions being 
met; and (iii) the expired portion of the vesting period. The charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income for the period is the cumulative amount as calculated above less the amounts 
already charged in previous periods where there is a corresponding credit to equity. 
 
Until an award has vested, any amounts recorded are contingent and will be adjusted if more or fewer awards 
vest than were originally anticipated to do so. Any award subject to a market condition is considered to vest 
irrespective of whether or not that market condition is fulfilled, provided that all other conditions are satisfied. 
If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had 
not been modified. An additional expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of 
the share based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of 
modification. 
 
If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any 
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for 
the cancelled award and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and 
new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous 
paragraph. 
 

(v)  Finance Income and Finance Costs 
 
The Group’s finance income and finance costs include: 

 Interest income; 

 Interest expense; 

 The net gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; 

 The foreign currency gain or loss on financial assets and financial liabilities;  and 

 Impairment losses recognised on financial assets (other than trade receivables); 
 
Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest rate method.  
 

(w)  Contributed Equity 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 

(x)  Earnings per Share 
 
Basic Earnings per Share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude 
any costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year. 
 
Diluted Earnings per Share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into 
account: 

 The after-tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares; 
and 

 The weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming 
the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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4. Segment Information 
 

For management purposes, the Group is organised based on its products and services and has two reportable 
segments as follows: 

 Health and Car Insurance segment, which offers comparison services across private health insurance and car 
insurance categories; and 

 Household Utilities and Financial segment, which offers comparison services across a range of household 
utilities and personal finance products including retail energy products, broadband, life insurance, home 
loans, savings accounts, term deposits, credit cards and personal loans. 

 
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable segments. Management monitors 
the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource 
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss in 
the consolidated financial statements. However, Group finance costs and income, income taxes and certain 
corporate overhead costs that are not considered to be appropriate to allocate, are not allocated to operating 
segments. Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to 
transactions with third parties. 
 
Geographical locations 
All revenue and operating assets are attributed to geographic location based on the location of customers, 
which are entirely in Australia. 

  Reported Reported 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

Operating revenue    
Health and Car Insurance  101,006 87,107 
Household Utilities and Financial  56,208 33,259 

Consolidated Group operating revenue   157,214 120,366 
    

Profit before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and loss from 
associate 

   

Health and Car Insurance  24,401 14,828 
Household Utilities and Financial  9,549 2,217 
Unallocated (Corporate)^  (15,359) (4,967) 

Consolidated Group profit before interest, tax, depreciation, 
amortisation and loss from associate (EBITDA) 

 18,591 12,078 

    
Depreciation and amortisation  (6,015) (6,468) 
Net finance income/(costs)  5,768 3,403 
Loss from associate  (313) - 

Consolidated Group profit before income tax  18,031 9,013 
    
Income tax expense  (8,393) (2,750) 

Consolidated Group net profit for the year  9,638 6,263 
    

    
 
^ Unallocated corporate costs in the current period include costs associated with the integration of Energy Watch, NIA loan 
impairment and associated costs and Chairman exit and replacement costs. In the prior year, unallocated corporate costs 
include CEO exit and replacement costs. These are further explained in Note 6. 
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5. Business Combinations 
 

Energy Watch acquisition 
 
On 1 July 2014, the Group obtained control of General Brokerage Services Pty Ltd and its controlled entities (Energy Watch 
Group), an online comparison company dealing in energy products. From the date of acquisition which was 1 July 2015, 
the Energy Watch Group contributed $6,291,000 of revenue, $390,000 gross profit and $840,000 loss before tax from 
continuing operations of the Group on a normalised basis. In determining these amounts management has assumed that 
the fair value adjustments determined arose on the date of acquisition. 
 
Purchase consideration  
 
The Group paid cash consideration of $9,701,000 for the purchase of Energy Watch Group, and has recognised assets and 
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. 
 
Details of net assets and liabilities acquired 
 
The fair value of the assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows: 
   Fair value 

$’000 

Cash   423  
Trade debtors               56  
Accrued Income   1,358 
Property, plant and equipment                       -  
Brand name               1,754  
Other assets                    110  
Deferred taxes                      298  
Trade and other payables    (1,269)   
Prepaid Income     (202)  
Provisions     (808)  

Net identifiable assets           1,720 

Add goodwill acquired   7,981 

Purchase consideration transferred   9,701 

    
Initial accounting 
 
The net asset value and allocation of the purchase price to acquired assets has now been finalised. 
 
Fair value of assets 
 
The following fair values have been determined by management: 
• The brand names acquired as part of the Energy Watch Group acquisition were initially recognised at fair value and 

this intangible asset has been determined to have an indefinite useful life; and 
• The fair value of property, plant and equipment as well as any development and software assets have been 

determined to be nil at acquisition. 
 
Acquisition, integration and closure related costs 
 
The Group has incurred acquisition, integration and site closure related costs of $983,000 relating to external legal fees, 
due diligence costs, consultancy costs, redundancy and staff associated costs which were expensed in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in FY14 ($284,000) and FY15 ($699,000) as incurred. 
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  Consolidated Consolidated 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

6. Revenue and Expenses    

    
Upfront Revenue    
Upfront fees  118,425 94,457 
Click-through fees  3,331 2,746 
Advertising and subscription fees  3,411 1,850 

  125,167 99,053 
Trail Commission Revenue    
Trail commission revenue – current period trail commission sales  26,189 31,179 
Trail commission revenue – change in value of future trail cash flow 
expectations 

  
- 

 
(18,390) 

Trail commission revenue – discount unwind  5,858 8,524 

  32,047 21,313 
Employee Benefits Expense    
Cost of sales and administration expenses include the following employee 
benefits expenses: 

   

Remuneration, bonuses, on-costs and amounts provided for benefits (i)  52,442 41,543 
Superannuation expenses  4,385 3,998 
Share based payments  287 638 

  57,114 46,179 
    
Depreciation and Amortisation    
Depreciation  2,537 2,772 
Amortisation of previously capitalised development costs  3,478 3,696 

  6,015 6,468 
    
Occupancy Related Expenses    
Operating lease rental expense  1,833 1,688 

    
Doubtful Debt Related Expenses    
Doubtful debt expense / (recovery)  - (23) 

    
Other Expenses Included in the Income Statement    
Costs associated with the integration of Energy Watch (ii)  699 - 
Executive chairman exit and replacement costs (iii)  1,029 - 
CEO exit and replacement costs (iv)  - 855 
NIA associated costs (v)  837 - 
Impairment of NIA loan receivable (v)  9,987 - 

  12,552 855 

    
    
(i) Employee benefits expense is net of amounts capitalised as development 

costs of $1,719,000 (2014: $2,808,000) and superannuation expenses which 
are separately disclosed. 

(ii) Costs in relation to the integration of Energy Watch.  
(iii) Executive Chairman exit and replacement costs in relation to the 

resignation of Damien Waller and the search for a Non-Executive Chairman 
(Chris Knoblanche, appointed effective 1 July 2015).  

(iv) CEO exit and replacement costs relate to the resignation of Matt McCann 
and the appointment of Alex Stevens in financial year 2014. 

(v) NIA loan receivable impairment and associated legal and advisory related 
costs. 
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  Consolidated Consolidated 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

7. Income Tax    

    
Current income tax    
Current income tax (expense)/benefit  (7,854) (6,239) 
Adjustment in respect of current income tax of previous years  421 (97) 
    
Deferred income tax    
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences  (2,632) (2,752) 
Adjustments in respect of deferred income tax of previous years  (384) - 
Utilisation of carried forward tax losses  2,056 6,338 

Income tax reported in income statement  (8,393) (2,750) 
    
A reconciliation of income tax benefit/(expense) and accounting profit 
before income tax at the statutory income tax rate is as follows: 

   

    
Accounting profit before income tax  18,031 9,013 
    
Prima facie income tax (expense)/benefit using the statutory income 
tax rate of 30% (2014: 30%) 

  
(5,409) 

 
(2,704) 

Share of loss /(profit) of associate reported net of tax  (77) - 
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years  421 (97) 
Adjustments in respect of deferred income tax of previous years  (384) - 
Share based payments  (86) (191) 
Entertainment  (102) (102) 
Initial recognition of available research and development 
concessional credits 

 223 432 

Impairment of NIA loan receivable  (2,996) - 
Other  17 (88) 

Total income tax expense  (8,393) (2,750) 

Deferred tax assets relate to the following:    
Deferred tax assets from temporary differences on:    

Trade and other payables  1,935 1,060 
Provisions  2,301 2,876 
Fixed assets  1,175 693 
Carried forward losses  - 1,622 
Expenditure for initial public offering costs  1,606 2,413 
Other  8 361 

Total deferred tax assets  7,025 9,025 
    
Deferred tax liabilities from temporary differences on:    

Trail commission receivable  (30,613) (29,699) 
Development costs  (501) (675) 
Other  - (108) 

Total deferred tax liabilities  (31,114) (30,482) 

Net deferred tax liabilities  (24,089) (21,457) 

 
Tax Consolidation 
The iSelect Group formed an income tax consolidated group as at 30 April 2007. iSelect Limited continues to act as the head 
entity of this Group. Upon the 100% acquisitions of Infochoice Limited and the Energy Watch Group, these companies 
became part of the tax consolidated group. Members of the Group entered into a tax sharing agreement at that time that 
provided for the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment 
obligations. No amounts are expected to be recognised in the consolidated financial statements in respect of this agreement 
on the basis that the probability of default is remote. The head entity and the controlled entities in the likely tax consolidated 
group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax balances. 
 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets of $2.9 million (gross tax loss of $9.6 million) in respect of losses acquired as part of the Infochoice 
Limited acquisition have not been recognised as at 30 June 2015. Further, the Group has not recognised a deferred tax 
benefit on the loss on the NIA receivable, which would be $2,996,000. 
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  Consolidated Consolidated 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

8. Cash and Cash Equivalents    

    
Cash at bank and on hand  25,542             30,906  
Term deposits  45,000              45,000  

   
70,542 

              75,906  

   
 
Cash at bank and on hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for 
varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and 
earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. 
 

   
Reconciliation of profit after tax to net cash flows from operating activities 
 
Net profit after tax  9,638 6,263 
    
Adjustments for non-cash income and expense items:    

Foreign exchange movements  (41) - 
Depreciation and amortisation  6,015            6,468  
Impairment of NIA loan receivable  9,987 - 
Share based payments expense  287                752  
Share of loss in associate  313 - 
    

Adjustments for items in net profit but not in operating cash flows:    
Interest income classified as investing cash flow  (6,357)          (4,479) 
Interest expense classified as financing cash flow  589             1,076  

    
Changes in net assets and liabilities:    

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables  (5,085)             (3,541) 
(Increase)/decrease in trail commission receivable  (2,629) 2,250 
(Increase)/decrease in other assets  129              (1,366) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  3,325        1,132 
Increase/(decrease) in deferred taxes  2,632 2,750  
Increase/(decrease) in provisions  5,406             287  
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities  743               (58) 

 
Net cash flow provided from/(used in) operating activities 

  
24,952 

 
11,534 
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  Consolidated Consolidated 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

9. Trade and Other Receivables    

    
Current    
Trade receivables   33,066 28,040 
Allowance for credit losses  (21) (80) 
Other receivables (secured NIA facility)  40,716 - 

  73,761 27,960 

Non-Current    
Other receivables (secured NIA facility)   - 32,766 

  - 32,766 

  73,761 60,726 

    
Refer to Note 23 for information on the credit risk management policy of the Group. 
 
Allowance for credit loss 
 
As at 30 June 2015, current trade receivables with a nominal value of $21,000 (2014: $80,000) were provided for as 
doubtful. 
 
Movements in the allowance account for credit losses were as follows:    

Carrying value and the beginning of the year  80 151 
Allowance for credit losses recognised during the year  - 38 
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable  (59) - 
Unused amount reversed  - (109) 

Carrying value at the end of the year  21 80 

    
 
Trade and other receivables past due but not provided for as doubtful 
 
As at 30 June 2015, trade receivables of $1,129,000 (2014: $490,000) were past due but not impaired. These relate to 
customers for whom there is no recent history of default or other indicators of impairment. 
    
    
The ageing analysis of trade and other receivables that were not provided for 
as doubtful is as follows: 

   

Neither past due nor impaired  72,632 27,470 
Past due 1 – 30 days  281 110 
Past due 31 – 90 days  403 173 
Past due 90+ days  445 207 

  73,761 27,960 

    
With respect to trade receivables that are neither past due nor provided for as doubtful, there are no indications as at the 
reporting date that the debtors will not meet their payment obligations. It is the Group’s policy that all key partners who 
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. Receivable balances are monitored on an 
ongoing basis.  
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9. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)    

 
Secured NIA facility 
 
NIA Limited launched health.com.au in April 2012, which was the first major new health insurance fund in Australia for 
over 20 years. health.com.au has an online-focused marketing strategy and a suite of products that have been designed to 
appeal to underserviced consumer segments within online comparison. NIA Limited has appointed the Group as a 
distributor of health.com.au’s private health insurance products.  
 
The Group has provided a secured facility to NIA Health Pty Ltd (NIA Health) for the sole purpose of allowing NIA Health to 
defer the time at which it is required to make commission payments under distribution arrangements with the Group. The 
facility does not allow NIA Health to draw down cash amounts, rather, it creates a deferred payment obligation for which 
NIA Health provides security and pays interest.  
 
The key terms of the facility were as follows: 
 
(i) NIA Health must pay interest every three months to the Group on the amount outstanding under the facility. 

Interest is payable at variable rates. 
(ii) Unless repaid earlier by NIA Health, all amounts drawn under the facility shall be finally repaid by NIA Health on 31 

July 2014, unless: 
a. An extension is requested by NIA Health to 31 July 2015 by NIA Health giving notice that it is unable to 

refinance the facility; 
b. An event of default or review event occurs under the facility which will entitle the Group to accelerate 

repayment of the facility. 
(iii) The maximum size of the facility is $75 million.  
(iv) NIA Health has provided a fixed and floating charge over all its present and after-acquired property. In addition, 

NIA Health’s parent company, NIA Limited, has provided a share of mortgage over all the present and after-
acquired shares in NIA Health and a guarantee from NIA Limited to the Group in respect of the facility.  
 

On 31 July 2015, the Group received a cash settlement of $42,133,667 million in full satisfaction of interest owing with the 
balance being applied to remaining amounts owed under the NIA Health loan facility, subject to the terms and certain 
conditions of an agreement entered into on July 25, 2015 under which GMHBA will acquire health.com.au Pty Ltd.  
 
The Group has adjusted for an impairment to the NIA Health loan facility of $9,987,000 plus additional one-off costs of 
approximately $837,000 within its FY15 financial result. Refer to Note 6 for further details. 
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  Consolidated Consolidated 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

10. Trail Commission Receivable    

    

Current    
Trail commission receivable  28,174 27,452 

  28,174 27,452 

Non-Current    
Trail commission receivable  73,451 71,544 

  73,451 71,544 

Total trail commission receivable  101,625 98,996 

    
Reconciliation of movement in trail commission receivable:    

Opening balance  98,996 101,246 

Trail commission revenue – current period trail commission sales  26,189 31,179 

Trail commission revenue – change in value of future trail cash flow expectations  - (18,390) 

Trail commission revenue – discount unwind  5,858 8,524 

Cash receipts  (29,418) (23,563) 

Closing balance  101,625 98,996 

 
Sensitivity of trail commission receivable 
A combined premium price decrease of 1% and termination rate increase of 1% would have the effect of reducing the 
carrying value by $9,269,000 (2014: $8,854,000). A combined premium price increase of 1% and termination rate decrease 
of 1% would have the effect of increasing the carrying value by $11,303,000 (2014: $9,728,000). Individually, the effects of 
these inputs would not give rise to any additional amount greater than those stated.  
 
 

  Consolidated Consolidated 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

11. Other Assets    

    
Current    

Prepayments – facility fees  361 445 
Prepayments – other  1,242 1,605 
Interest receivable – NIA (i)  1,079 347 
Other assets  1,076 865 

  3,758 3,262 

Non-Current    
Prepayments – facility fees  - 347 

  - 347 

 
(i) The NIA loan settlement amount received included all interest owed to the date of settlement.  
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment 

       

 
Leasehold 
Improve- 

ments 
$’000 

Office and 
Computer 
Equipment 

$’000 

Motor 
Vehicles 

$’000 

Computer 
Software 

$’000 

Furniture, 
Fixtures 

and 
Fittings 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

       
As at 30 June 2015       
Cost 7,996 6,103 - 4,909 436 19,444 
Accumulated depreciation (4,364) (4,165) - (3,675) (144) (12,348) 

Net carrying amount 3,632 1,938  1,234 292 7,096 
 
Net carrying amount at 1 July 2014 

 
4,564 

 
1,958 

 
- 

 
1,035 

 
152 

 
7,709 

Additions 82 848 - 818 176 1,924 
Disposals - - - - - - 
Depreciation expense (1,014) (868) - (619) (36) (2,537) 

Net carrying amount at 30 June 
2015 

 
3,632 

 
1,938 

 
- 

 
1,234 

 
292 

 
7,096 

       
As at 30 June 2014       
Cost    9,686           5,256               167            4,095       1,090   20,294  
Accumulated depreciation  (5,122)   (3,298)   (167)   (3,060)   (938)   (12,585)  

Net carrying amount       4,564        1,958              -      1,035        152     7,709  
 
Net carrying amount at 1 July 2013 

                         
4,509  

                                 
1,338  

                        
30  

                          
949  

                     
127  

                     
6,953  

Additions          1,224           1,360              101            791          55       3,531  
Disposals                 -      -            -               -   (3)   (3)  
Depreciation expense  (1,169)   (740)   (131)   (705)   (27)   (2,772)  

Net carrying amount at 30 June 
2014 

                             
4,564  

                                   
1,958  

                            
-  

                         
1,035  

                       
152  

                       
7,709  

  



iSelect Limited 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Page 70 
 

13. Intangible Assets 
 
 

Develop-
ment Costs 

$’000 

Trade-
marks and 

Domain 
Name 
$’000 

Goodwill 
$’000 

Brand 
Names 
$’000 

Customer 
Contracts 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

       
As at 30 June 2015       
Cost  19,212 368 31,216 8,204 806 59,806 
Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment 

(12,800) - - - (806) (13,606) 

Net carrying amount 6,412 368 31,216 8,204 - 46,200 
       
Net carrying amount at 1 July 2014 7,511 350 23,235 6,450 - 37,546 

Acquisitions through business 
combination 

 
- 

 
- 

 
7,981 

 
1,754 

 
- 

 
9,735 

Other additions 2,379 18 - - - 2,397 
Amortisation (3,478) - - - - (3,478) 

Net carrying amount at 30 June 2015 6,412 368 31,216 8,204 - 46,200 
       
As at 30 June 2014       
Cost  17,267 350 23,235 6,450 806 48,108 
Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment 

(9,756) - - - (806) (10,562) 

Net carrying amount 7,511 350 23,235 6,450 - 37,546 
       
Net carrying amount at 1 July 2013 8,812 229 23,235 6,450 - 38,726 

Acquisitions through business 
combination 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Other additions 2,395 121 - - - 2,516 
Amortisation (3,696) - - - - (3,696) 

Net carrying amount at 30 June 2014 7,511 350 23,235 6,450 - 37,546 
 
 

      

Description of intangible assets 
 
(i) Development costs 

Development costs relate to the development of the Group’s various websites and customer conversion systems 
and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. This intangible asset has 
been assessed as having a finite life and is amortised using the straight line method over a period of between 2 and 
5 years. The amortisation has been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income in amortisation. If an impairment indication arises, the recoverable amount is estimated and 
an impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount. 

 
(ii) Trademarks and domain names 

Trademark and domain names are carried at cost and are not amortised. These intangible assets have been 
determined to have infinite useful lives. These assets were tested for impairment as at 30 June 2015, on a ‘value-in-
use’ basis. Also refer Note 3(l), 3(o) and below. 

 
(iii) Goodwill 

Goodwill relates to the acquisitions of Infochoice Limited and the Energy Watch group. Goodwill has been tested for 
impairment on a value-in-use basis as at 30 June 2015, refer to Note 3(l), 3(o), and below. 

 
(iv) Brand Names 

The brand names acquired as part of the Infochoice Limited and the Energy Watch Group acquisitions were initially 
recognised at fair value. These intangible asset have been determined to have an indefinite useful life. These assets 
were tested for impairment on a value-in-use basis as at 30 June 2015, refer to Note 3(l), 3(o) and below. 

 
(v) Customer Contracts 

The customer contract asset acquired as part of the Infochoice Limited acquisition is carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. This asset is fully written down. 
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13. Intangible Assets (continued) 
 
Impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives 
 
Goodwill acquired through the Infochoice Limited and Energy Watch group acquisitions have been allocated to the cash 
generating units (CGUs) for impairment testing as outlined in the table below: 
 

 
Segment 

 
CGU 

30 June 2015 
$’00026 

30 June 2014 
$’000 

Health and car insurance Health 6,645 4,634 
 Car 2,379 1,659 
Household utilities and financial Home loans 4,380 10,088 
 Money 9,754 6,801 
 Life 77 53 

 Goodwill from Infochoice acquisition 23,235 23,235 

 Household 7,981 - 

 Goodwill from Energy Watch acquisition 7,981 - 

Total Group Total Goodwill 31,216 23,235 

 
The brand name acquired through the Infochoice Limited acquisition has an indefinite useful life and is allocated at a 
Group level. Trademarks and domain names also have an indefinite useful life and are allocated at a Group level. The 
brand name acquired through the Energy Watch acquisition has an indefinite useful life and is allocated to the Household 
CGU, which is comprised of iSelect Energy, iSelect Broadband and Energy Watch.  
 
The Group has performed its annual impairment test as at 30 June 2015. The recoverable amount of CGUs has been 
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using a combination of the financial year 2016 annual operating plan 
approved by Executive Management with a growth rate increment for subsequent years, and cash flow projections based 
on management forecasts. As a result of this analysis, no impairment was identified for the CGUs to which goodwill or 
brand names are allocated. 
 
Key assumptions used in value in use calculation 
 
Discount rates 
Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to each CGU, taking into consideration the 
time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets that have not been incorporated in the cash flow 
estimates. The discount rate calculation is based on the specific circumstances of the Group and its operating segments 
and is derived from its weighted average cost of capital (WACC). The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The 
cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment by the Group’s investors.  The cost of debt is based on 
the interest bearing borrowings the Group is obliged to service. CGU-specific risk is incorporated into the WACC rate 
where it is considered appropriate. The pre-tax discount rates are as follows: 
 

CGU FY15 FY14 

Health 12.2% 14.1% 
Car 11.8% 14.1% 
Home loans 19.9% 18.2% 
Money 14.7% 16.6% 
Life 12.7% 14.1% 
Household 12.2% n.a. 

  
Growth rate estimates  
For each CGU, 5 years of cash flows have been included in the cash flow models. These are based on projections from 
2015 financial results and growth rates ranging from 3% to 5% for all CGU’s other than Home Loans.  
 
The Home Loans CGU remains an immature business and its operation to-date has incurred losses. However, management 
believes improved focus and attention will drive substantial growth in the business over the forecast time period. The cash 
flows for Home Loans are based on management projections. The cash flow forecast for financial year 2016 is negative 
(though an improvement on financial year 2015), with a further yet smaller loss in financial year 2017 and then significant 
growth into the 2018 to 2020 financial years. A long term terminal growth rate of 3%, which is in line with the assessment 
for other CGUs.  

                                                           
26 Refer to note 3(l) for an explanation of the re-allocation of goodwill from the acquisition of Infochoice Limited. Impairment was tested 
using both historical and re-allocated goodwill amounts, and no impairment was identified under either. 
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13. Intangible Assets (continued) 
 
Key assumptions used in value in use calculation (continued) 

 
Market share assumptions 
These assumptions are important because management assesses how the unit’s position, relative to its competitors, 
might change over the budget period. Management expects the Group’s share of its respective markets to grow over the 
forecast period. 

 
Sensitivity to changes in assumptions 
 
With regard to the assessment of ‘value-in-use’ of the CGUs other than the Home Loans CGU, management believes that 
no reasonable change in any of the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the units to materially 
exceed its recoverable amount. 
 
For the Home Loans CGU, the estimated recoverable amount is $6,136,000 greater than its carrying value.  Despite this 
headroom, certain adverse changes in a key assumption may result in an impairment loss. The implications of these 
adverse changes in the key assumptions for the recoverable amount are discussed below: 

 Growth rate assumptions – management recognises that the Home Loans CGU is still in its infancy and the speed of 
its growth may have a significant impact on growth rate assumptions applied. As an indication of the potential impact 
on impairment, if cash flows achieved are less than 85% projected for financial year 2019 and less than 59% of 
projected for 2020, this would result in impairment.  

 Discount rate assumptions – assuming forecast cash flows are achieved, the pre-tax discount rate would need to 
exceed 27.3% before there is any impairment. 

 

 
14. Investment in Associate    

    
On 10 October 2014, the Group acquired a 20% interest on a fully dilutive basis for AUD $4.6 million (USD $4.0 million) in 
the Intelligent Money Group (iMoney), an online comparison company dealing in financial products across South East 
Asia. The Group also has 20% of the voting rights on the Board of Directors, and as such has determined it has significant 
influence. However, it has also determined that the investment in associate is immaterial in nature for the Group’s overall 
operations. 
 
The following table analyses, in aggregate, the carrying amount of the share of profit and other comprehensive income of 
this investment. 

  Consolidated Consolidated 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

    
Carrying amount of interest in associates  4,265 - 

    
Balance at beginning of year  - - 
Investment in associate  4,578 - 
Share of:    

Loss from continuing operations  (313) - 
Other comprehensive income  - - 

Balance at the end of year  4,265 - 
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  Consolidated Consolidated 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

15. Trade and Other Payables    

    
Trade payables  5,310 5,867 
Other payables  15,740 11,835 

  21,050 17,702 

Trade payables and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally 
settled on 30 day terms. 

   

    

16. Provisions    

    
Current    
Employee benefits – annual leave  2,403 2,024 
Employee benefits – long service leave  357 467 
Lease incentive  319 319 
Clawback  1,961 2,093 
Provision for income tax payable  5,434 - 
Other  1,354 1,346 

  11,828 6,249 

Non-Current    
Employee benefits – long service leave  680 533 
Lease Incentive  1,596 1,916 

  2,276 2,449 

 
Nature and timing of provisions 
 
(i) Clawback provision  

The Group has recognised a provision for expected clawback of marketing fees receivable from health, life and 
general funds due to early termination of policies by new members. This is based on historical and average 
industry rates of attrition. Clawback of fees is incurred within 0 to 12 months of the sale of the relevant policies. 
 

(ii) Provision for lease incentive 
Relates to the receipt of lease incentive payments in relation to the Group’s campus. This income has been 
deferred and is being recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income over the life of the lease. 
 

(iii) Other 
Predominantly relates to the make good provision in relation to the Group’s campus.  

 
Movement in provisions 
Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than provisions relating to employee benefits and 
taxation, are set out below: 

 Clawback Lease Incentive Other 

 2015 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

2015 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

2015 
$’000 

2014 
$’000 

       
Carrying amount at beginning of 
year 

 
2,093 

 
1,825 

 
2,235 

 
2,554 

 
1,346 

 
- 

Arising during the year 5,675 6,205 - - 154 1,346 
Utilised during the year (5,807) (5,937) (320) (319) (146) - 
Unused amounts reversed - - - - - - 

Carrying amount at end of year 1,961 2,093 1,915 2,235 1,354 1,346 
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17. Loans and Borrowings 

    
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings, which 
are measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate, foreign currency and 
liquidity risk, see Note 23. 
 

  Consolidated Consolidated 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

    
Current    
Revolving facility   - - 

  - - 

    
Funding activities 
 
The Group currently maintains a revolving facility with CBA, on the terms outlined below. 
 
Revolving facility 
 
On the 18 April 2013 the Group entered into a $40 million facility with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia (CBA). The 
arrangements included a term debt revolving facility of up to $35 million and a secured letter of credit facility of up to $5 
million. The term of the facility was 3 years, from 18 April 2013 to 17 April 2016.  
 
During financial year 2014 the Group renegotiated its terms and facility limit with CBA and an updated arrangement for a 
$15 million facility. The arrangement reduced the term debt revolving facility down to $10 million, whilst the credit limit 
facility terms remained unchanged. 
 
The purpose of the facility is to provide funding for general corporate purposes, including ongoing working capital 
requirements and to meet the ongoing liquidity requirements of the Group. Interest is payable at a rate calculated as BBSY 
plus a pre-determined margin. 
 
The term debt revolving facility contains financial covenants that are required to be met. As at 30 June 2015, the Group 
has complied with these covenants. 
 
The Group has provided a General Security Deed over all the present and after-acquired property of all entities in the 
consolidated Group. 
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  Consolidated Consolidated 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

18. Contributed Equity    

    
Issued capital  173,713 172,963 

    
Issued capital – ordinary shares 
 
Movement in shares on issue 

 Number of 
Shares 

Share Capital 
$’000 

Total quoted shares outstanding at 1 July 2013  259,064,894 171,313 

Issue of shares – ESOP(1)  1,825,000 1,555 
Transfers of exercised options  - 95 

Total quoted shares outstanding at 30 June 2014  260,889,894 172,963 

Issue of shares – ESOP  600,000 750 
Transfer of exercised options  - - 

Total quoted shares outstanding at 30 June 2015  261,489,894 173,713 

 
 

Total LTI Plan shares outstanding at 1 July 2013  8,883,670 - 

Forfeiture of Shares – LTI Plan(2)  (3,797,551) - 

Total LTI Plan shares outstanding at 30 June 2014  5,086,119 - 

Issue of shares – LTI Plan(2)  7,546,080  
Forfeiture of Shares – LTI Plan(2)  (6,109,847) - 

Total LTI Plan shares outstanding at 30 June 2015  6,522,352 - 

 
 
(1) Net of transaction costs of $64,000 and associated tax of $(19,000). 
(2) Shares issued as part of Long Term Incentive Plan are unquoted ordinary shares. Refer to Note 31 for further details of 
the Long Term Incentive Plan.  
 

Ordinary Shares 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the Group, 
to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number and amount paid up on 
shares held. Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Group. 
 

19. Reserves  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

    
Share based payment reserve  1,683 1,396 
Business combination reserve  5,571 5,571 
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve  (49) - 

  7,205 6,967 

    

(a) Share based payment reserve  
 

This reserve records the value of shares under the Long Term Incentive Plan, and historical Employee and CEO Share 
Option plans offered to the CEO, Executives and employees as part of their remuneration. Refer to Note 31 for further 
details of these plans. During the year, the exercised options balance was transferred into issued capital.  

 

(b) Business combination reserve 

 
This reserve records the difference between the consideration paid and the ‘equity’ acquired from the internal Group 
restructure performed in the 2007 financial year. Refer to Note 3(b) for further details. 
 

(c) Foreign currency translation reserve 

 

This reserve records translation differences arising as a result of translating the financial statement items of a foreign 
operation into the Group’s functional currency and on translation of receivables/payables from/to a foreign operation, 
where settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future and therefore recorded as part of the net 
investment in the foreign operation. 
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20. Retained Earnings  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

    

Balance at beginning of period  56,366 49,984 
Profit for the period  9,638   6,263 
Transfers of lapsed options  - 119 

Balance at end of period  66,004 56,366 

    

    

21. Dividends    

    
Dividends provided for or paid during the year  - - 

  - - 

    
 
 
Franking credit balance 

 - - 

The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent financial year 
are: 

Franking account balance as at the end of the financial year at 30% 
(2014: 30%) 

  
 
 

- 

 
 
 

- 
Franking credits that will arise from the payment of income tax 
payable as at the end of the financial year  

  
5,434 

 
- 

Franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends as at the 
end of the financial year 

  
- 

 
- 

Franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends 
recognised as receivables at the reporting date 

  
- 

 
- 

  5,434 - 

    

    

22. Earnings Per Share    

 
Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the parent by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. 
 
Diluted earnings per share are calculated as above with an adjustment for the weighted number of ordinary shares that 
would be issued on conversion of all dilutive ordinary shares. 
 
Basic and dilutive earnings per share are calculated as follows: 
 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

    
Profit attributable to members of the parent  9,638 6,263 
    
  Shares (‘000) Shares (‘000) 

    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share  261,299 260,437 
Effect of dilution   774 89 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for effect of dilution  262,073 260,526 
    
  Cents Cents 

    
Earnings per share:    

Basic for profit for the year attributable to ordinary members of the parent  3.7 2.4 
Diluted for profit for the year attributable to ordinary members of the parent  3.7 2.4 
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23. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies   
    

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, loans and 
borrowings and cash and short-term deposits. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments such as foreign 
exchange contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge risk exposures. It is not exposed to either securities price risk or 
commodity price risk. Foreign exchange risk is limited to international operations (Energy Watch Services Ltd whose 
functional currency is New Zealand Dollars) and transactional currency exposure for some purchases made by the 
Australian entities in currencies other than the functional currency. However, the New Zealand operations and foreign 
currency denominated purchases made by the Australian entities are not significant parts of the overall iSelect business 
and therefore the exposure is minor. 
 
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are: 

 Market risk (including interest rate risk and foreign currency risk); 

 Credit risk; and 

 Liquidity risk. 
 
The Group uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risks to which it is exposed. These include 
monitoring levels of exposure to interest rate risk and assessments of market forecasts for interest rates and exchange 
rates. Ageing analysis and monitoring of specific credit allowances are undertaken to manage credit risk, and liquidity risk 
is monitored through the development of future rolling cash flow forecasts and comprehensive capital management 
planning. 
 
The Board of Directors continues to review the Group’s risk and capital management framework and has an Audit and Risk 
Management Committee to aid and oversee this process. 
 
The Group’s policies in relation to financial risks to which it has exposure are detailed below. 
 
(a) Market Risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
market prices. Market prices comprise four types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk, commodity price risk and other 
price risk, such as equity price risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include trade and other receivables, trail 
commission receivables, short term deposits, trade and other payables and borrowings. 
 
(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk  

 
The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, trail commission receivables and borrowings. 
The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the reporting date: 
 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

Financial Assets    
Current     
Cash and cash equivalents  70,542 75,906 
Trade and other receivables  73,761 27,960 
Trail commission receivable  28,174 27,452 
Non-Current    
Trade and other receivables  - 32,766 
Trail commission receivable  73,451 71,544 

  245,928 235,628 

Financial Liabilities    
Current     
Trade and other payables  21,050 17,702 
Borrowings  - - 

  21,050 17,702 

Net Exposure  224,878 217,926 
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23. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued) 
 

(a) Market Risk (continued) 
 

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (continued) 
 

At 30 June 2015, if interest rates had moved as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables being held constant, 
post-tax profit would have been higher/(lower) as follows: 

 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

TOTAL    
Consolidated     

+1% (100 basis points)  494 531 
-1% (100 basis points)  (494) (531) 

CASH AT BANK    
Consolidated     

+1% (100 basis points)  494 531 
-1% (100 basis points)  (494) (531) 

 
Judgements of reasonably possible movements 
The movements in profit are due to higher/lower interest income from cash balance. 
 
(h) Foreign currency risk  
 
The Group has minimal transactional currency exposure. Such exposure arises from operating in New Zealand (Energy 
Watch Services Limited) and purchases by an Australian operating entity in currencies other than the functional currency. 
No hedging instruments have been or are in place. 

 
(j) Credit Risk 
  
Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash management equivalents, trade and other 
receivables and trail commission receivable in future periods. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting 
date in relation to each class of financial asset is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the statement of 
financial position. 
 
Exposure to credit risk 
The carrying amount of the financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum credit risk at the 
reporting date was as follows: 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $’000 $’000 

Cash and cash equivalents  70,542 75,906 
Trade and other receivables  33,045 27,960 
NIA receivable  40,716 32,766 
Trail commission receivable  101,625 98,996 

  245,928 235,628 

 
Credit risk related to trade receivables and future trail commission 
The Group has exposure to credit risk associated with the health, life and general funds and mortgage providers, with 
regard to the calculation of trail commissions (as discussed in Note 3(f) and outstanding receivables). Estimates of the 
likely credit risk associated with the health, life and general funds and mortgage providers are incorporated in the discount 
rates (one of the assumptions used in the fair value and amortised cost calculation). Any risk in relation to other revenue 
has been reflected in allowance for credit losses. 
 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. However, 
management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and 
country in which customers operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit risk. It is the Group’s policy that all 
key partners who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. Receivable balances are 
monitored on an ongoing basis. Note 9 provides an ageing of receivables past due. The Group establishes an allowance for 
impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other receivables and investments. The 
main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures. The 
Group otherwise does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables.  
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23. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued) 
 
(b) Credit Risk (continued) 
 
Credit risk related to cash and cash equivalents  
Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and for approved amounts, to minimise the 
concentration of risks and mitigate financial loss through potential counterparty failure. 

 
(c) Liquidity Risk 
 
The Group aims to maintain the level of its cash and cash equivalents at an amount to meet its financial obligations. The 
Group also monitors the level of expected cash inflows on trade and other receivables together with expected cash 
outflows on trade and other payables through rolling forecasts. This excludes the potential impact of extreme 
circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted. 
 
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same 
geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be 
similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of 
the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry. 
 
In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Group’s internal policies and procedures include specific guidelines 
to focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and managed 
accordingly. 
 
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding 
the impact of netting agreements: 
 

 
Carrying 
Amount 

$’000 

Contract- 
ual Cash 

Flows 
$’000 

<3 
months 
$’000 

3–12 
months 
$’000 

1–2  
years 
$’000 

2–5  
years 
$’000 

>5  
years 
$’000 

As at 30 June 2015        
Non-derivative financial 
liabilities 

       

Borrowings - - - - - - - 
Trade payables 21,050 21,050 21,050 - - - - 

Total 21,050 21,050 21,050 - - - - 

        
As at 30 June 2014        
Non-derivative financial 
liabilities 

       

Borrowings - - - - - - - 
Trade payables 17,702 17,702 17,702 - - - - 

Total 17,702 17,702 17,702 - - - - 

        
 
As disclosed in Note 17, the Group has a debt facility, which contains debt covenants. A breach of these covenants may 
require the Group to repay the loan, however as at 30 June 2015 iSelect has not drawn down on this facility. 
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23. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued) 
 
(d) Fair Values 
 
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the consolidated statement 
of financial position are as follows: 

  $’000 

  Carrying Amount Fair Value 
 Note 2015 2014 2015 2014 

Financial Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents (i) 8 70,542 75,906 70,542 75,906 
Trade and other receivables – current (i) 9 73,761 27,960 73,761 27,960 
Trade and other receivables – non-current (ii) 9 - 32,766 - 30,339 
Trail commission receivable (ii) 10 101,625 98,996 103,164 97,564 

  245,928 235,628 247,467 231,769 

      
Financial Liabilities      

Trade and other payables (i) 15 21,050 17,702 21,050 17,702 
Borrowings (ii) 17 - - - - 

  21,050 17,702 21,050 17,702 

      
The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments are as follows: 
 
(i) For financial assets and financial liabilities with a short term to maturity the carrying amount is considered to 

approximate fair value.  
(ii) The fair value has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates. 
 

 

Note 

Quoted 
market price  

(Level 1) 
$’000 

Valuation 
technique - 

market 
observable 

inputs  
(Level 2) 

$’000 

Valuation 
technique - 
non-market 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 3) 

$’000 Total 

30 June 2015      
Financial Assets      

Other receivables  9 - - 40,716 40,716 
Trail commission receivable 10 - - 103,164 103,164 

  - - 143,880 143,865 

      
Financial Liabilities  - - - - 

      
30 June 2014      
Financial Assets      

Other receivables – non-current 9 - - 30,339 30,339 
Trail commission receivable 10 - - 97,564 97,564 

  - - 127,903 127,903 

      
Financial Liabilities  - - - - 

      
For financial instruments not quoted in the active markets, the Group used valuation techniques such as present value 
techniques (which include lapse and mortality rates, commission terms, premium increases, credit risk), comparison to 
similar instruments for which market observable prices exists and other relevant models used by market participants. 
These valuation techniques use both observable and unobservable market inputs. 
 
(e) Capital Management 
 
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to 
sustain operations and future development of the business. Capital consists of ordinary shares and retained earnings. The 
Board of Directors monitors the return on capital and seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might 
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. 
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24. Commitments and Contingencies  Consolidated Consolidated 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 
  $’000 $’000 

Commitments    
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments    

Not later than 1 year  2,419 2,258 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  10,272 9,524 
Later than 5 years  2,691 5,279 

  15,382 17,061 

    
    

Contingencies    
    

Guarantees    
Trading guarantees  2,089 2,134 

    
The Group has issued a number of bank guarantees and letters of credit for various operational purposes. It is not 
expected that these guarantees will be called upon. All trading guarantees are issued in the name of iSelect Limited. 
 
Other 
 
On 24 October 2011, iSelect Life Pty Ltd reported to the Australian Securities and Investment Commission a breach in 
relation to its Australian Financial Services License relating to life insurance policies sold between April 2009 and March 
2011. As a result of this breach, an internal review of all life insurance policies sold during that period was undertaken. The 
review and remediation work commenced in October 2011. As at 30 June 2015, 100% of the initial 5,095 policies had been 
reviewed by iSelect with only 665 policies in relation to one provider still subject to final remediation. 
 
The amount, if any, of liability associated with those policies yet to be remediated cannot be reliably determined at this 
time, and accordingly no amounts have been recorded in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2015.  
 
Potential liabilities for the Group, should any obligation be identified, are expected to be covered by insurance maintained 
by the Group. 
 

25. Events After Balance Sheet Date    
 
The Group has received a cash settlement of $42,133,667 in satisfaction of the outstanding interest and remaining 
amounts owing under the NIA Health loan facility, subject to the terms and certain conditions of an agreement entered 
into on 25 July 2015 under which GMHBA acquired health.com.au Pty Ltd.  
 
The Group has adjusted for an impairment to the NIA Health loan facility of $9,987,000 plus additional one-off costs of 
approximately $837,000 within its FY15 financial result.  
 
No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year that have significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Group, the result of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in the 
future financial years. 
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26. Parent Entity Information    
 
The accounting policies of the parent entity, iSelect Limited, which have been applied in determining the financial 
information shown below, are the same as those applied in the consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 3 for a 
summary of accounting policies relating to the Group. 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 
Financial Position  $’000 $’000 

    
Assets    

Current Assets  87,536 61,429 
Non-Current Assets  167,915 166,126 

Total Assets  255,451 227,555 

    
Liabilities    

Current Liabilities  83,424 9 
Non-Current Liabilities  - 50,139 

Total Liabilities  83,424 50,148 

Net Assets  172,027 177,407 

    
Equity    

Issued Capital  173,713 172,963 
Reserves  1,683 1,396 
Retained Earnings/(Accumulated Losses)  (3,369) 3,048 

Total Equity  172,027 177,407 

    
Financial Performance    
    

Profit/(loss) of the parent entity  (6,417) 2,105 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) of the parent entity  (6,417) 2,105 

    
There are no contractual or contingent liabilities of the parent as at reporting date (2014: $nil). iSelect Limited has issued 
bank guarantees and letters of credit to third parties for various operational purposes. It is not expected these guarantees 
will be called on. The amount of trading guarantees in place at reporting date is disclosed in Note 24. 
 

27. Subsidiaries    

    
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of iSelect Limited as the ultimate parent, and the 
subsidiaries listed in the following table: 
    
Name of Subsidiary Country of 

incorporation 
Functional 
currency 

 
Equity Interest 

     
   30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

iSelect Health Pty Ltd^ Australia AUD 100% 100% 
iSelect Life Pty Ltd Australia AUD 100% 100% 
iSelect General Pty Ltd Australia AUD 100% 100% 
iSelect Media Pty Ltd^ Australia AUD 100% 100% 
iSelect Mortgages Pty Ltd^ Australia AUD 100% 100% 
Mobileselect Pty Ltd^ Australia AUD 100% 100% 
Infochoice Pty Ltd Australia AUD 100% 100% 
iSelect Services Pty Ltd^ Australia AUD 100% 100% 
Tyrian Pty Ltd^ Australia AUD 100% 100% 
General Brokerage Services Pty Ltd^ Australia AUD 100% - 
Energy Watch Trading Pty Ltd^ Australia AUD 100% - 
Procure Power Pty Ltd^ Australia AUD 100% - 
Telco Advice Pty Ltd^ Australia AUD 100% - 
Energy Watch Services Pty Ltd^ Australia AUD 100% - 
Energy Watch Services Limited New Zealand NZD 100% - 
Insurawatch Pty Ltd^ Australia AUD 100% - 
iSelect International Pty Ltd^ Australia AUD 100% - 
 
^  A Deed of Cross Guarantee has been entered into by iSelect Limited and these entities. Refer to Note 28 for further details. 



iSelect Limited 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Page 83 
 

28. Deed of Cross Guarantee    
    

Pursuant to the iSelect Deed of Cross Guarantee (“the Deed”) and in accordance with ASIC Class Order 98/1418, the 
subsidiaries identified with a ‘^’ in Note 27 are relieved from the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 relating to the 
preparation, audit and lodgement of their financial reports.  
 
iSelect Limited and the subsidiaries identified with a ‘^’ in Note 27 together are referred to as the “Closed Group”. The 
Closed Group, with the exception of General Brokerage Services Pty Ltd, Energy Watch Trading Pty Ltd, Procure Power Pty 
Ltd, Telco Advice Pty Ltd and Insurawatch Pty Ltd, Energy Watch Services Pty Ltd and iSelect International Pty Ltd entered 
into the Deed on 26 June 2013.  
 
General Brokerage Services Pty Ltd, Energy Watch Trading Pty Ltd, Procure Power Pty Ltd, Telco Advice Pty Ltd, Energy 
Watch Services Pty Ltd and Insurawatch Pty Ltd entered into the Deed on 1 July 2014, the date they were acquired as part 
of the Energy Watch Group acquisition. iSelect International entered the Deed on 8 September 2014.  The effect of the 
Deed is that iSelect Limited guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in the event of winding up any of the 
entities in the Closed Group.  
 
The consolidated income statement of the entities that are members of the Closed Group is as follows: 
    

  30 June 2015 
Closed Group+ 

30 June 2014 
Closed Group 

  $’000 $’000 

    
Consolidated income statement    

Profit from continuing operations before income tax  2,401 2,643 
Income tax expense  (3,559) (859) 

Net profit for the year  (1,158) 1,784 
    
Retained earnings at the beginning of the period  61,835 59,932 
Net profit for the year  (1,158) 1,784 
Transfer of lapsed options  - 119 

Retained earnings at the end of the year  60,677 61,835 

    
    

+ General Brokerage Services Pty Ltd, Energy Watch Trading Pty Ltd, Procure Power Pty Ltd, Telco Advice Pty Ltd, Energy 
Watch Services Pty Ltd and Insurawatch Pty Ltd entered the Deed on 1 July 2014 and iSelect International 8 September 
2014, and accordingly the comparatives exclude them. 
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28. Deed of Cross Guarantee (continued)  30 June 2015 
Closed Group+ 

30 June 2014 
Closed Group 

  $’000 $’000 

The consolidated balance sheet of the entities that are members of the 
Closed Group is as follows: 

   

    
Consolidated balance sheet    

    
Assets    

Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  58,628 67,519 
Trade and other receivables  71,039 26,046 
Trail commission receivable  23,900 23,647 
Other assets  3,730 3,229 

Total current assets  157,297 120,441 

    
Non-current assets    
Trade and other receivables  - 45,778 
Other assets  - 347 
Investments  52,683 48,418 
Trail commission receivable  53,006 54,803 
Property, plant and equipment  6,993 7,645 
Intangible assets  14,877 5,178 

Total non-current assets  127,559 162,169 

Total assets  284,856 282,610 

    
Liabilities    

Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables  18,932 16,148 
Provisions  10,927 5,143 
Borrowings  - - 

Total current liabilities  29,859 21,291 

    
Non-current liabilities    
Trade and other payables  - 7,493 
Provisions  2,276 2,333 
Net deferred tax liabilities  16,648 15,299 

Total non-current liabilities  18,924 25,125 

Total liabilities  48,783 46,416 

Net Assets  236,073 236,194 

    
Equity    

Issued Capital  173,713 172,963 
Reserves  1,683 1,396 
Retained Earnings  60,677 61,835 

Total Equity  236,073 236,194 

    

+ General Brokerage Services Pty Ltd, Energy Watch Trading Pty Ltd, Procure Power Pty Ltd, Telco Advice Pty Ltd, Energy 
Watch Services Pty Ltd and Insurawatch Pty Ltd entered the Deed on 1 July 2014 and iSelect International 8 September 
2014, and accordingly the comparatives exclude them. 
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29. Related Parties    

 
a. Transactions with key management personnel 

 
In accordance with AASB 124: “Related Party Disclosures”, key management personnel (KMP) have authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. For a list of key management personnel 
and additional disclosures, refer to the remuneration report on pages 12 to 30. 
 
During financial years 2015 and 2014, the aggregate compensation provided to KMP was as follows: 
 

  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 
  $ $ 

Short-term employee benefits  4,123,916 3,737,670 
Post-employment benefits  232,643 248,820 
Long term employee benefits  146,410 16,290 
Share based payments  157,469 518,770 
Termination benefits  861,906 1,125,666 

   5,522,344 5,647,216 

 
During financial year 2014, apart from transactions trivial and domestic in nature and on normal commercial terms and 
conditions, there were no other transactions with KMP and their related parties. 
 
b. Other related party transactions 

 
The following table provides the total amount of transactions that were entered into with related parties for the relevant 
financial year.  

 
Sales to 
Related 
Parties 

$ 

Purchases 
from Related 

Parties 
$ 

Other 
Transactions 
with Related 

Parties 
$ 

Balances at 
Reporting 

Date 
$ 

     
30 June 2015     
Associates - iMoney Group service fee - - 57,003 24,216 

     
30 June 2014     
Associates - iMoney Group service fee - - - - 

     
     
     

30. Remuneration of Auditors  30 June 2015 30 June 2014 

  $ $ 

(a) Ernst & Young    
Audit and review of financial statements  288,000 301,811 
Other assurance services    
- Regulatory compliance  36,000 36,000 
- Tax compliance  - 20,000 
- Assurance related services  - 8,000 
- Due diligence  - 50,500 

Total remuneration of Ernst & Young  324,000 416,311 
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31. Shared Based Payments    

 
The recognised expense arising from equity settled share-based payment plans during the period is shown in Note 6. 
During the year ended 30 June 2015, the Group had the following share based payment plans in place (described below): 
 FY2015 Long Term Incentive Plan (FY2015 LTI Plan); 
 FY2013 Long Term Incentive Plan (FY2013 LTI Plan); and 
 Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) consisting of the 2011 Option Plan and the 2010 Option Plan. 
 
There have been no cancellations or modifications to any of the plans during the period. 
 
(a) Description of Share Based Payment Plans  
 
FY2015 LTI Plan 
 
The FY2015 LTI Plan was established as the long-term incentive component of remuneration in order to assist in the 
attraction, reward and retention of certain employees. The LTI Plan is designed to link long-term reward with the ongoing 
creation of shareholder value, through the allocation of LTI Plan Shares which are subject to satisfaction of long-term 
performance conditions. 
 
The key terms of the FY2015 LTI Plan are as follows: 

 Participants are invited to join, via a loan based share plan. There is no initial cost to the recipient to participate 
in the LTI Plan, but the loan must be repaid before or at the time of sale of the shares. The value of the loan is 
set by applying the market value at grant to the number of units granted. This means the share price must 
increase over the life of the Plan, and pass the performance tests for there to be any value to the participant 
between vesting and expiry; 

 The LTI Plan Shares are issued to each participant upfront, with the number of LTI Plan Shares determined by 
dividing the remuneration value by the fair value of the LTI Plan Shares at the time of allocation; 

 The LTI Plan Shares will only vest upon satisfaction of conditions set by the Board at the time of the offer; 

 If the conditions are met and LTI Plan Shares vest, the loan becomes repayable and participants have up to three 
years from the date of allocation of the LTI Plan Shares to repay the outstanding balance. The LTI Plan Shares 
cannot be dealt with (other than to repay the loan) until the loan in respect of the vested LTI Plan Shares is 
repaid in full; 

 Until the LTI Plan Shares vest, the participant is not entitled to exercise any voting rights attached to the LTI Plan 
Shares. Any dividends paid on the LTI Plan Shares while the loan remains outstanding are applied (on a notional 
after-tax basis) towards repayment of the loan; and 

 In general, if the conditions are not satisfied by the relevant testing date for those conditions, or if the 
participant ceases employment before the LTI Plan Shares vest, the participant forfeits all interest in the LTI Plan 
Shares in full satisfaction of the loan. 

 
FY2015 offer under LTI Plan 
The FY2015 LTI Plan shares were granted in two tranches, with each tranche being subject to one of two performance 
conditions over the period 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2017.  
 
The first condition is a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) in total shareholder return (TSR). TSR measures the total 
change in the value of the Shares over the period, plus the value of any dividends and other distributions being treated as 
if they were reinvested in Shares. In relation to the FY2015 offer, vesting starts where CAGR over the period is 12%. The 
second condition is a CAGR in earnings per share (EPS) over the period, and again, vesting starts where the CAGR over the 
period is 12%. 
 
At 12% TSR CAGR and 12% EPS CAGR, 50% of each respective tranche of LTI Plan Shares will vest. All LTI Plan Shares will 
vest if CAGR over the period is 15% or more for both tranches. Between these points, the percentage of vesting increases 
on a straight line basis.  
 
In the event that the performance conditions are not met at 30 June 2017, the iSelect Board believes that the loss of any 
remuneration value from the LTI Plan is sufficient penalty to the participants. 
 
Cessation of employment 
Except where the Board determines otherwise in a specific instance, where a participant ceases employment with iSelect 
prior to any conditions attaching to LTI Plan Shares issued under the LTI Plan being satisfied, their LTI Plan Shares will be 
forfeited and surrendered (in full satisfaction of the loan) and the participant will have no further interest in the LTI Plan 
Shares. However the Board has discretion to approve the reason for a participant ceasing employment before LTI Plan 
Shares have vested in appropriate circumstances. Such circumstances may include ill health, death, redundancy or other 
circumstances approved by the Board. 
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31. Shared Based Payments (continued)  
  
(a) Description of Shared Based Payment Plans (continued) 
 
Where the Board has approved the reason for ceasing employment, it has discretion to determine any treatment in 
respect of the unvested LTI Plan Shares it considers appropriate in the circumstances – for example, that a pro-rata 
number of LTI Plan Shares are eligible to vest, having regard to time worked during the performance period and the extent 
the performance condition has been satisfied at the time of cessation. 
 
In relation to vested LTI Plan Shares that remain subject to the loan, the participant will have 12 months from the date of 
the cessation of their employment to repay the loan. Once the loan is repaid, the participant may deal in the LTI Plan 
Shares. 
 
For the purposes of Sections 200B and 200E of the Corporations Act, iSelect Shareholders have approved the giving of any 
potential benefits under the LTI Plan provided in connection with any future retirement of a participant who holds a 
‘managerial or Executive office’ such that for the purposes of the provisions, those benefits will not be included in the 
statutory limit. 
 
Change in control 
Unless the Board determines otherwise, all LTI Plan Shares will vest upon a ‘change of control’, and participants’ loans will 
become repayable (including in respect of any outstanding loan where LTI Plan Shares had already vested prior to the 
‘change of control’). If the Share price has fallen, LTI Plan Shares will be forfeited and surrendered in full satisfaction of the 
loan. 
 
FY2013 LTI Plan 
 
In a manner similar to the FY2015 LTI Plan, the FY2013 LTI Plan was established as the long-term incentive component of 
remuneration to link long-term reward with the ongoing creation of shareholder value, through the allocation of LTI Plan 
Shares which are subject to satisfaction of long-term performance conditions. 
 
The key terms of the FY2013 LTI Plan are as follows: 

 Participants were invited to join, via a loan based share plan. There is no initial cost to the recipient to 
participate in the LTI Plan, but the loan must be repaid before or at the time of sale of the shares. The value of 
the loan is set by applying the market value at grant to the number of units granted. This means the share price 
must increase over the life of the Plan, and pass the performance tests for there to be any value to the 
participant between vesting and expiry; 

 The LTI Plan Shares are issued to each participant upfront, with the number of LTI Plan Shares determined by 
dividing the ‘loan amount’ by the market value of the LTI Plan Shares at the time of allocation; 

 The LTI Plan Shares will only vest upon satisfaction of conditions set by the Board at the time of the offer; 

 If the conditions are met and LTI Plan Shares vest, the loan becomes repayable and participants have up to five 
years from the date of allocation of the LTI Plan Shares to repay the outstanding balance. The LTI Plan Shares 
cannot be dealt with (other than to repay the loan) until the loan in respect of the vested LTI Plan Shares is 
repaid in full; 

 Until the LTI Plan Shares vest, the participant is not entitled to exercise any voting rights attached to the LTI Plan 
Shares. Any dividends paid on the LTI Plan Shares while the loan remains outstanding are applied (on a notional 
after-tax basis) towards repayment of the loan; and 

 In general, if the conditions are not satisfied by the relevant testing date for those conditions, or if the 
participant ceases employment before the LTI Plan Shares vest, the participant forfeits all interest in the LTI Plan 
Shares in full satisfaction of the loan. 

 
FY2013 offer under LTI Plan 
The performance condition for the FY2013 offer is a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) in total shareholder return 
(TSR). TSR measures the total change in the value of the Shares over a period, plus the value of any dividends and other 
distributions being treated as if they were reinvested in Shares. In relation to the 2013 offer, vesting starts where CAGR 
over the period is 12%. 
 
At this level, 50% of the LTI Plan Shares will vest. All LTI Plan Shares will vest if CAGR over the period is 15% or more. 
Between these points, the percentage of vesting increases on a straight line basis. In respect of the first offer made under 
the LTI Plan, in order to provide for direct LTI Plan Share ownership by participants and alignment with shareholder 
interests as soon as possible following establishment of the Plan, LTI Plan Shares may vest in three tranches if the relevant 
condition is met in respect of that period. The first testing date (in respect of 20% of LTI Plan Shares under the 2013 offer) 
was 30 June 2013. The performance condition for this test was not met, and the first tranche did not vest. The second 
testing date was 30 June 2014. The performance condition for this test was not met, and the second tranche did not vest.  
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31. Shared Based Payments (continued) 

 
(a) Description of Shared Based Payment Plans (continued) 
 
FY2013 LTI Plan (continued) 
 
The third and final testing date was 30 June 2015.  The performance condition for this test was not met and all LTI Plan 
Shares granted under the FY2013 LTI Plan were forfeited as of that date, and surrendered in full satisfaction of the loan 
such that participants have no further interest in the LTI Plan Shares. 
 
Cessation of employment 
Except where the Board determines otherwise in a specific instance, where a participant ceases employment with iSelect 
prior to any conditions attaching to LTI Plan Shares issued under the LTI Plan being satisfied, their LTI Plan Shares will be 
forfeited and surrendered (in full satisfaction of the loan) and the participant will have no further interest in the LTI Plan 
Shares. However the Board has discretion to approve the reason for a participant ceasing employment before LTI Plan 
Shares have vested in appropriate circumstances. Such circumstances may include ill health, death, redundancy or other 
circumstances approved by the Board. 
  
Where the Board has approved the reason for ceasing employment, it has discretion to determine any treatment in 
respect of the unvested LTI Plan Shares it considers appropriate in the circumstances – for example, that a pro-rata 
number of LTI Plan Shares are eligible to vest, having regard to time worked during the performance period and the extent 
the performance condition has been satisfied at the time of cessation. 
 
In relation to vested LTI Plan Shares that remain subject to the loan, the participant will have 12 months from the date of 
the cessation of their employment to repay the loan. Once the loan is repaid, the participant may deal in the LTI Plan 
Shares. 
 
For the purposes of Sections 200B and 200E of the Corporations Act, iSelect Shareholders have approved the giving of any 
potential benefits under the LTI Plan provided in connection with any future retirement of a participant who holds a 
‘managerial or Executive office’ such that for the purposes of the provisions, those benefits will not be included in the 
statutory limit. 
 
Change in control 
Unless the Board determines otherwise, all LTI Plan Shares will vest upon a ‘change of control’ (this excludes the IPO 
undertaken on 24 June 2013), and participants’ loans will become repayable (including in respect of any outstanding loan 
where LTI Plan Shares had already vested prior to the ‘change of control’). If the Share price has fallen, LTI Plan Shares will 
be forfeited and surrendered in full satisfaction of the loan. 
 
Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) 
 
The iSelect ESOP is a legacy plan under which there are no further issues or grants. Details of the plan terms, relevant to 
when they were established and operational, are noted and included for completeness of information. The ESOP was 
designed to align participant’s interests with those of shareholders, by increasing the value of the Group’s shares and 
could be granted to Company Directors, Company Secretary, Senior Executives and employees. The fair value of the equity 
settled share options granted under the ESOP is estimated as at the date of grant using a Binomial Model taking into 
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. 
 
2011 Option Plan 
Under the 2011 option plan, the exercise price of the options was set at or above the market price of the shares on the 
date of grant. The typical vesting period for options granted under the 2011 Option Plan was the equivalent of two and a 
half years. The term of the options was typically 3 years. For all participants, in the event of a change in control or 
departure from iSelect, after the required service period, the issued options were to be pro-rated to determine the 
applicable qualifying options based on the service term. In addition, all shares had an attached Group performance 
condition hurdle that needed to be achieved in order for options to be exercisable. Specific conditions existed in relation 
to a takeover where more than 90% of the share capital is acquired by another entity.  
 
When a participant ceased employment prior to the service period of their share options, the non-vested share options 
are pro-rated based on the proportion of the service period completed. The vested options were also to be forfeited in 
circumstances where a participant breached their contract of employment. All ESOP options are forfeited on the 
insolvency of iSelect Limited. There are no cash settlement alternatives. 
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31. Share Based Payments (continued) 
 

(a)  Description of Share Based Payment Plans (continued) 
 
2010 Option Plan 
Under the 2010 option plan, the exercise price of the options was set at or above the market price of the shares on the 
date of grant. For all participants, excluding Company Directors and Company Secretary, 50% of deemed options granted 
vested over the prescribed vesting period subject to CEO performance assessment. The typical vesting period for options 
granted under the 2010 Option Plan varied from 3 to 4 years. The term of the options is typically 5 years. For all 
participants, excluding Company Directors and Company Secretary, vested options could be exercised on an Initial Public 
Offering (IPO) event or trade sale event or within six months prior to their expiry or at the discretion of the Board. For all 
participants, 75% of any unvested options immediately vested on an IPO or trade sale event. 
 
When a participant ceased employment prior to the vesting of their share options, the non-vested share options are 
forfeited. The vested options will also be forfeited in circumstances where the participant has breached their contract of 
employment. All ESOP options are forfeited on the insolvency of iSelect Limited or iSelect Health Pty Ltd. There are no 
cash settlement alternatives. 
 
  
(b) Summary of Shares Issued under the FY2015 LTI Plan 
 
The following table illustrates the number of, and movements in, shares issued under the LTI Plan during the year: 
 

 30 June 2015 
Number 

30 June 2014 
Number 

Outstanding at the beginning of the period - - 
Granted during the period 7,546,080 - 
Forfeited during the period (1,023,728) - 
Exercised during the period - - 

Outstanding at the end of the period 6,522,352 - 

   
The fair value shares granted under the LTI Plan takes into account the terms and conditions upon which the LTI Plan 
shares were granted.  The fair value is estimated as at the date of the grant using a binomial option pricing model for 
shares subject to an EPS hurdle. For shares subject to a TSR hurdle, a Monte Carlo simulation option pricing model has 
been used to estimate the fair value. 
 

 
The following table lists the inputs to the model for grants made under the 
FY2015 LTI Plan: 

Grant on  
29 August  

2014 

Grant on 
18 November 

2014 

Five day volume weighted average price (VWAP) as at grant date $1.20 $1.38 
Exercise price (same as underlying share price at grant date) $1.20 $1.38 
Expected life of LTI Plan shares 3 years 3 years 
Risk free rate 2.88% 2.80% 
Dividend yield 0% 0% 
Expected volatility 30% 30% 

   

 
 
Fair value of LTI Pan shares at grant date : 

Grant on  
29 August  

2014 

Grant on 
18 November 

2014 

TSR component $0.26 $0.33 
EPS component $0.37 $0.41 

   
The expected life of the performance shares is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise 
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is reflective of future 
trends, which may also not necessarily be reflective of the actual outcome. No other features of shares granted were 
incorporated into the measurement of fair value. 
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31. Share Based Payments (continued) 
 

(c) Summary of Shares Issued under the FY2013 LTI Plan 
 
The following table illustrates the number of, and movements in, shares issued under the LTI Plan during the year: 
 

 30 June 2015 
Number 

30 June 2014 
Number 

Outstanding at the beginning of the period 5,086,119 8,883,670 
Granted during the period - - 
Forfeited during the period (5,086,119) (3,797,551) 
Exercised during the period - - 

Outstanding at the end of the period - 5,086,119 

   
   
   
(d) Summary of Options Issued under ESOP 
 
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share 
options during the year. 
 

 30 June 
2015 

Number 

30 June 
2015  

WAEP 

30 June 
2014 

Number 

30 June 
2014  

WAEP 

Outstanding at the beginning of the period 2,349,750 1.66 5,219,200 1.43 
Granted during the period - - - - 
Forfeited during the period (1,749,750) 1.80 (1,044,450) 1.86 
Exercised during the period (600,000) 1.25 (1,825,000) 0.88 

Outstanding at the end of the period - n.a. 2,349,750 1.66 

Exercisable at the end of the year 
 

- n.a. 900,000 1.25 

(e) Weighted average remaining contractual life 
There are no share options outstanding as at 30 June 2015 (Weighted average contractual life in 2014: 0.41 years). 
 
(f) Range of exercise price 
There are no share options outstanding as at 30 June 2015 (Range in exercise price in 2014: $1.25 to $2.65). 

 
(g) Weighted average fair value 
There were no options granted during the year ended 30 June 2015 (2014: $nil). 
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Directors’ Declaration 

 
In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of iSelect Limited we state that: 
 
1. In the opinion of the Directors: 

 
a. the consolidated financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 38 to 90 and the Directors’ report, 

are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
i. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its 

performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and 
ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

iii. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable. 
 

2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the Group entities identified in Note 27 will be able to 
meet any obligations or liabilities; 
 

3. The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2015; 

 
4. The Directors draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, which includes a statement of 

compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards; and 
 
5. As at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Closed Group 

identified in Note 27 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject, by 
virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee. 

 
On behalf of the Directors 

 
 

 

 
 
 
Alex Stevens     Brodie Arnhold 
Director      Director 
 
Melbourne,     Melbourne, 
27 August 2015     27 August 2015 
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ASX Additional Information 
 
Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this report is as 
follows. The information is current as of 21 August 2015. 
 
(a) Distribution of Shareholdings 
 

 
Size of Holding 

Fully paid ordinary shares 
Number of shares^ 

1 – 1,000  59,938 
1,001 – 5,000 499,406 
5,001 – 10,000 823,256 
10,001 – 100,000 6,604,429 
100,001 and over 253,502,865 

 
^The total number of shares on issue as at 30 June 2015 and 21 August 2015 was 261,489,894 
 
(b) Marketable Parcel 
 
The number of holders holding parcels of less than $500 was 50 as at 21 August 2015. 
 
(c) Share Subject to Voluntary Escrow 
 
As at 21 August 2015, there are no shares subject to voluntary escrow. 
 
(d) Twenty Largest Shareholders 
 
The twenty largest shareholders of fully paid ordinary shares as at 21 August 2015 were: 
 

 
Name 

 
Number of 

ordinary shares 
held 

 
% of issued 

capital 

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 56,600,261 21.65 
National Nominees Limited 30,736,085 11.75 
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 24,073,374 9.21 
Damien Michael Trevor Waller 23,355,780 8.93 
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 13,805,795 5.28 
Spectrum VI IS LLC 13,263,454 5.07 
BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd <DRP> 12,199,768 4.67 
RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees P/L <WAM Account> 10,101,698 3.86 
RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited <PI Pooled A/C> 8,929,128 3.41 
Aurielle Pty Ltd <iSelect Class A/C> 8,021,880 3.07 
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited <NT-COMNWLTH SUPER CORP 
A/C> 

5,190,718 1.99 

Argo Investments Limited 4,472,554 1.71 
Starfish Technology Fund II Nominees A Pty Ltd <Trust A A/C> 3,041,470 1.16 
Starfish Technology Fund II Nominees B Pty Ltd <Trust B A/C> 3,041,470 1.16 
Significant Other Pty Ltd <The iSelect Class No 2 A/C> 2,800,000 1.07 
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited - A/C 3 2,756,642 1.05 
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 2,679,055 1.02 
Lambrook Pty Ltd <Raymonde Superfund A/C> 2,176,000 0.83 
ITV Consulting Pty Ltd 2,100,000 0.80 
George Tauber Management Pty Ltd 2,000,000 0.76 

 
The percentage holding of the 20 largest shareholders of iSelect Ltd fully-paid ordinary shares was 88.47%. 
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ASX Additional Information (continued) 
 
(e) Substantial Shareholders as at 21 August 2015 
 

 
Name 

 
Number of ordinary shares 

held 

 
% of voting 

rights 

Damien Michael Trevor Waller^                       32,729,010^  12.21 
Paradice Investment Management Pty Ltd 23,252,822 8.89 
Quest Asset Partners Pty Ltd 14,317,855 5.49 
Spectrum VI IS LLC 13,263,454 5.08 
Ellerston Capital Limited 13,141,151 5.03 

 
^ As required by the ASX Listing Rules, the number of shares disclosed here is in line with substantial shareholder notice 
provided to the Company. The substantial shareholders notice was lodged on 24 June 2013 and includes LTI Plan shares 
which have since been forfeited.
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Reported vs. Normalised Results 
 
This summarised schedule details adjustments made to the reported results for the current year and the prior year to reflect a normalised result that forms the basis of certain commentary in 
the Directors’ Report. 
 

 Reported Adjustments Normalised  Reported Adjustments Normalised 

  
 

FY15 
$’000 

 
NIA Loan 

Impair-
ment 

 
NIA Trans- 

action 
Costs 

 
 

Chairman 
Costs 

Energy 
Watch 

Integration 
Costs 

 
 

FY15 
$’000 

  
 

FY14 
 $000 

 
 
 

CEO Costs 

 
Trail 

Reval-
uation 

 
 

FY14 
$’000 

            
Operating revenue 157,214 - - - - 157,214  120,366 - 16,316 136,682 
            
Cost of sales (90,928) - - - - (90,928)  (73,626) - - (73,626) 

Gross profit 66,286 - - - - 66,286  46,740  16,316 63,056 
         -   
Total expenses (47,695) 9,987 837 1,029 699 (35,143)  (34,662) 855 - (33,807) 

 
EBITDA 

 
18,591 

 
9,987 

 
837 

 
1,029 

 
699 

 
31,143 

  
12,078 

 
855 

 
16,316 

 
29,249 

            
Depreciation and amortisation (6,015) - - - - (6,015)  (6,468) - - (6,468) 

            

 
EBIT 

 
12,576 

 
9,987 

 
837 

 
1,029 

 
699 

 
25,128 

  
5,610 

 
855 

 
16,316 

 
22,781 

            
Net finance income/(costs) 5,768 - - - - 5,768  3,403 - - 3,403 
Loss from Associate (313) - - - - (313)  - - - - 
            

 
Profit Before Income Tax Expense 

 
18,031 

 
9,987 

 
837 

 
1,029 

 
699 

 
30,583 

  
9,013 

 
855 

 
16,316 

 
26,184 

 
Income tax expense 
 

 
(8,393) 

 
- 

 
(251) 

 
(309) 

 
(210) 

 
(9,163) 

  
(2,750) 

 
(257) 

 
(4,895) 

 
(7,902) 

 

 
Profit for the period 

 
9,638 

 
9,987 

 
586 

 
720 

 
489 

 
21,420 

  
6,263 

 
598 

 
11,421 

 
18,282 

 
EPS (cents) 

 
3.7 

 
3.8 

 
0.2 

 
0.3 

 
0.2 

 
8.2 

  
2.4 

 
0.2 

 
4.4 

 
7.0 

 


	FINAL APPROVED iSelect Ltd - Appendix 4E.pdf
	FINAL APPROVED iSelect Ltd - Financial Statements 30-06-15.pdf

